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Part I
Item 1. Business
General
Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (we, us, our or the Company), a Fortune 500 company headquartered in Richmond, Virginia, is a leading
global healthcare solutions company with integrated technologies, products and services aligned to deliver significant and sustained value for healthcare
providers, manufacturers and directly to patients across the continuum of care. Our teammates serve healthcare industry customers in over 70 countries, by
providing quality products and helping to reduce total costs across the healthcare supply chain by optimizing point-of care performance, freeing up capital
and clinical resources and managing contracts to optimize financial performance. The description of our business should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and supplementary data included in this Form 10-K.
Founded in 1882, Owens & Minor was incorporated in 1926 and has operated continuously from its Richmond, Virginia headquarters. Through
organic growth and acquisitions over many years, we significantly expanded and strengthened our company, achieving international scale in the healthcare
market. Today, we have distribution, production, customer service and sales facilities located across Asia, Europe, Latin America and the United States.
On June 18, 2020, we completed the previously announced divestiture of our European logistics business, Movianto (the Divestiture), as well as
certain support functions in our Dublin office, to Walden Group SAS (the Buyer) and EHDH (as Buyer’s guarantor) for cash consideration of $133 million.
See Note 3, “Discontinued Operations,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report for further information. Unless
otherwise indicated, the following information relates to continuing operations.
Global Solutions
In our Global Solutions segment, we offer a comprehensive portfolio of products and services to healthcare providers and manufacturers. Our
portfolio of medical and surgical supplies includes branded products purchased from manufacturers and our own proprietary products. We store our
products at our distribution centers and provide delivery of these products, along with related services, to healthcare providers around the nation.
Our service offerings to healthcare providers include supplier management, analytics, inventory management, and clinical supply management.
These value-add services help providers improve their processes for contracting with vendors, purchasing supplies and streamlining inventory. These
services include our operating room-focused inventory management program that helps healthcare providers manage suture and endo-mechanical
inventory, as well as our customizable surgical supply service that includes the kitting and delivery of surgical supplies in procedure-based totes to coincide
with the healthcare providers' surgical schedule.
In addition to services to healthcare providers, we offer a variety of programs dedicated to providing outsourced logistics and marketing solutions
to our suppliers as well. These are designed to help manufacturers drive sales growth, increase market share and achieve operational efficiencies.
Manufacturer programs are generally negotiated on an annual basis and provide for enhanced levels of support that are aligned with the manufacturer’s
annual objectives and growth goals. We have contractual arrangements with manufacturers participating in these programs that provide performance-based
incentives to us, as well as cash discounts for prompt payment. Program incentives can be earned on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis.
We operate a network of 46 distribution centers located throughout the continental United States, which are strategically located to efficiently
serve our provider and manufacturer customers. A significant investment in information technology supports our business including warehouse
management systems, customer service and ordering functions, demand forecasting programs, electronic commerce, data warehousing, decision support
and supply-chain management.
We customize product deliveries, whether the orders are “just-in-time,” “low-unit-of-measure,” pallets, or truckloads. We also customize delivery
schedules according to customers’ needs to increase their efficiency in receiving and storing products. We have deployed low-unit-of-measure automated
picking modules in our larger distribution centers to maximize efficiency, and our distribution center teammates use voice-pick technology to enhance
speed and accuracy in performing certain warehousing processes. We partner with a third party company to deliver most supplies in the United States. We
also use contract carriers and parcel delivery services when they are more cost-effective and timely.
The majority of our distribution arrangements compensate us on a cost-plus percentage basis, under which a negotiated percentage mark-up is
added to the contract cost of the product agreed to by the supplier and customer or Group Purchasing Organization (GPO). We price our services for other
arrangements under activity-based pricing models. In these cases, pricing depends upon the type, level and/or complexity of services that we provide to
customers, and in some cases we do not take title to the product (although we maintain certain custodial risks). As a result, this fee-for-service pricing
model aligns the fees we charge with the cost of the services provided, which is a component of distribution, selling and administrative expenses, rather
than with the cost of the product, which is a component of cost of goods sold.
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Byram Healthcare (Byram or Home Healthcare) expands our business along the continuum of care through delivery of disposable medical
supplies sold directly to patients and home health agencies. Byram specializes in various patient care product lines including diabetes, ostomy, wound care,
urology, incontinence and other. We receive payments for products sold through Byram from managed care plans, the U.S. federal government under the
Medicare program, state governments under their respective Medicaid or similar programs, private insurers and directly from patients. Byram has a
nationwide sales force, focusing on managed care and key referral sources, six centers of excellence aligned with specific product categories, and a
nationwide network to optimize shipping distance and time.
Certain assets, liabilities and contracts of Fusion5 were sold on December 31, 2020. The sold assets and liabilities are not included in our
consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2020. This business did not qualify as discontinued operations and, accordingly, its financial results were
included in income from continuing operations during 2020.
Global Products
Our Global Products segment manufactures and sources medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations. We provide
medical supplies and solutions for the prevention of healthcare-associated infections across the acute and alternate site channels.
Our manufacturing facilities are located in the United States, Thailand, Honduras, Mexico and Ireland. Our business has recognized brands across
its portfolio of product offerings, including sterilization wrap, surgical drapes and gowns, facial protection, protective apparel, medical exam gloves,
custom and minor procedure kits and other medical products. We use a wide variety of raw materials and other inputs in our production processes, with
polypropylene polymers and nitrile constituting our most significant raw material purchases. We base our purchasing decisions on quality assurance, cost
effectiveness and regulatory requirements, and we work closely with our suppliers to assure continuity of supply while maintaining high quality and
reliability. We primarily purchase these materials from external suppliers, some of which are single-source suppliers. Global commodity prices can affect
pricing of certain raw materials on which we rely. In our Halyard product line, polypropylene polymers, which are oil based, and nitrile represent a
significant component of our manufacturing costs. In addition, the prices of other raw materials we use, such as resins and finishing supplies, often
fluctuate in response to changes in oil prices.
We support customer sales through a dedicated global sales force and direct our primary sales and marketing efforts toward hospitals and other
healthcare providers to highlight the unique benefits and competitive differentiation of our products. We work directly with physicians, nurses, professional
societies, hospital administrators and GPOs to collaborate and educate on emerging practices and clinical techniques that prevent infection and speed
recovery. These marketing programs are delivered directly to healthcare providers. Additionally, we provide marketing programs to our strategic
distribution partners throughout the world. We operate four major distribution centers located in North America and Asia that ship multiple finished
products to multiple customers, as well as other distribution sites that also have customer shipping capabilities, in order to optimize cost and customer
service requirements.
Our proprietary products are typically purchased pursuant to purchase orders or supply agreements in which the purchaser specifies whether such
products are to be supplied through a distributor or directly. This segment may sell on an intercompany basis to our Global Solutions segment when we are
the designated distributor, to other third-party distributors or directly to healthcare providers.
Our Customers
We currently provide products and services to thousands of healthcare provider customers either directly or indirectly through third-party
distributors. These customers include multi-facility networks of healthcare providers offering a broad spectrum of healthcare services to a particular market
or markets as well as smaller, independent hospitals. In addition to contracting with healthcare providers at the Integrated Delivery Network (IDN) level
and through GPOs, we also contract with other types of healthcare providers including surgery centers, physicians’ practices and smaller networks of
hospitals that have joined together to negotiate terms. We have contracts to provide distribution services to the members of a number of national GPOs,
including Vizient, Premier, Inc. (Premier) and HealthTrust Purchasing Group (HPG). Below is a summary of these agreements:

GPO
Vizient
Premier
HPG

Year of Renewal or
Extension
2020
2016
2017

4

Term
2 years
5 years
4 years

Sales to Members as a % of
Consolidated Net Revenue
in 2020
36%
21%
15%

We have our own independent relationships with most of our hospital customers through separate contractual commitments that may or may not
be based upon the terms of our agreement with the GPO. As a result, the termination or expiration of an agreement with a particular GPO would not
necessarily mean that we would lose the members of such GPO as our customers.
Our suppliers represent the largest and most influential healthcare manufacturers in the industry. We have long-term relationships with these
important companies in the healthcare supply chain and have long provided traditional distribution services to them. In the Global Solutions segment, no
sales of products from any individual suppliers exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue for 2020.
Asset Management
In our business, a significant investment in inventory and accounts receivable is required to meet the rapid delivery requirements of customers and
provide high-quality service. As a result, efficient asset management is essential to our profitability. We continually work to refine our processes to
optimize inventory and collect accounts receivable.
Inventory
We actively monitor inventory for obsolescence and use inventory turnover and other operational metrics to measure our performance in managing
inventory. We are focused in our efforts to optimize inventory and continually consolidate products and collaborate with suppliers on inventory productivity
initiatives. When we convert large-scale IDN customers to our distribution network, an additional investment in inventory in advance of expected sales is
generally required.
Accounts Receivable
In the normal course of business, we provide credit to our customers and use credit management techniques to evaluate customers’
creditworthiness and facilitate collection. These techniques may include performing initial and ongoing credit evaluations of customers based primarily on
financial information provided by them and from sources available to the general public. We also use third-party information from sources such as credit
reporting agencies, banks and other credit references. We actively manage our accounts receivable to minimize credit risk, days sales outstanding (DSO)
and accounts receivable carrying costs. Our ability to accurately invoice and ship product to customers enhances our collection results and affects our DSO
performance. As we diversify our customer portfolio, the change in business mix also affects our DSO. We have arrangements with certain customers under
which they make deposits on account, either because they do not meet our standards for creditworthiness or in order to obtain more favorable pricing.
Competition
The industries in which we operate are highly competitive. Global Solutions competitors include two major nationwide manufacturers who also
provide distribution services, Cardinal Health, Inc. and privately-held Medline Industries, Inc. In addition, we compete with a number of regional and local
distributors, companies that distribute products to patient's homes and customer self-distribution models. Major outsourced logistics competitors serving
healthcare manufacturers in the United States include United Parcel Service and FedEx Corporation.
The major competitors of our Global Products business include Cardinal Health, Inc., Medline Industries, Inc., Hogy Medical, Multigate Medical
Products, Mölnlycke Health Care and HARTMANN Group. In the United States, several of our distribution partners and GPOs are also competitors or are
increasingly seeking to compete with us by direct sourcing their own products. In developing and emerging markets, we compete against reusable products,
or low usage of infection prevention products, due in large part to limited awareness and education on infection prevention practices and products. The
highly competitive environment requires us to seek out technological innovations and to market our products effectively. Our products face competition
from other brands that may be less expensive than our products and from other companies that may have more resources than we do. Competitive factors
include price, alternative clinical practices, innovation, quality and reputation. To successfully compete, we must demonstrate that our products offer higher
quality, more innovative features or better value versus other products.
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Research and Development
We continuously engage in research and development to commercialize new products and enhance the effectiveness, reliability and safety of our
existing products. In our Global Products business, we are focused on maintaining our market position by providing innovative customer-preferred product
enhancements, with a particular focus on the operating room. Leveraging customer insights and our vertically integrated manufacturing capabilities, we
seek to continuously improve our product designs, specifications and features to deliver cost efficiencies while improving healthcare worker and patient
protection. We continuously refresh our surgical drape and gown portfolio to ensure that our products are aligned with the latest medical and procedural
standards. Our research team works with healthcare providers to develop and design exam glove and apparel portfolios that optimize comfort and fit and
provide cost-effective infection prevention solutions for use throughout the hospital. We are also investing in new categories and solutions that complement
our technical expertise and existing intellectual property. We are particularly focused on those new categories that we believe will leverage our existing
scalable technology platforms as well as our sales and marketing expertise.
Intellectual Property
Patents, trademarks and other proprietary rights are very important to the growth of our business. We also rely upon trade secrets, manufacturing
know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to maintain and improve our competitive position.
On a regular basis, we review third-party proprietary rights, including patents and patent applications, as available, in an effort to develop an
effective intellectual property strategy, avoid infringement of third-party proprietary rights, identify licensing opportunities, and monitor the intellectual
property owned by others.
We have approximately 1,100 patents and patent applications pending in the United States and other countries that relate to the technology used in
many of our products. We utilize patents in our surgical and infection protection products and currently have approximately 140 issued patents in the U.S.
and approximately 680 issued patents in countries outside the U.S. These patents generally expire between 2021 and 2040. We do not license any patents
from third parties that are material to our business.
We also file patent applications for innovative product lines and solutions that result from our technical expertise. In order to protect our ongoing
research & development investments, we have approximately 60 pending patent applications in the U.S. and approximately 230 pending patent applications
in countries outside of the U.S.
With respect to trademarks, we have approximately 1,100 trademarks and trademark applications pending in the United States and other countries
that are used to designate or identify our company or products. We have approximately 120 U.S. registration trademarks and approximately 860 registered
trademarks outside of the U.S. We also have approximately 50 pending trademark applications in the U.S. and approximately 80 pending trademark
applications outside of the U.S.
We distribute products bearing the well-known “Halyard” brand. Other well-known registered trademarks we use include Aero Blue, Quick
Check, Smart-Fold, One Step, Purple, Purple Nitrile, and Purple Nitrile-Xtra.
We consider the patents and trademarks which we own and the trademarks under which we sell certain of our products, as a whole, to be material
to our business. However, we do not consider our business to be materially dependent upon any individual patent or trademark.
Regulation
The development, manufacture, marketing, sale, promotion and distribution of our products, as well as the provision of logistics and services in the
healthcare industry are subject to comprehensive regulation by federal, state and local government agencies. Government regulation by various national,
regional, federal, state and local agencies, globally, addresses (among other matters) inspection of, and controls over, research and laboratory procedures,
clinical investigations, product approvals and manufacturing, labeling, packaging, marketing and promotion, pricing and reimbursement, sampling,
distribution, quality control, post-market surveillance, record keeping, storage and disposal practices.
Our operations are impacted by trade regulations in many countries that govern the import of raw materials and finished products, as well as data
privacy laws (including the General Data Protection Regulation) that require safeguards for the protection of healthcare and other personal data. In
addition, we are subject to laws and regulations that seek to prevent corruption and bribery in the marketplace (including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices
Act and the United Kingdom Bribery Act, which provide guidance on corporate interactions with government officials) as well as laws and regulations
pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse, including state and federal anti-kickback and false claims laws in the United States.
We must also comply with laws and regulations, including those governing operations, storage, transportation, manufacturing, sales, safety and
security standards for each of our manufacturing and distribution centers, of the Food and Drug
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Administration, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, the Drug Enforcement Agency, the Department of Transportation, the Environmental
Protection Agency, the Department of Homeland Security, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and state boards of pharmacy, or similar
state licensing boards and regulatory agencies.
Our operations outside the U.S. are subject to local, country and European-wide regulations, including those promulgated by the European
Medicines Agency (EMA) and the Medical Devices Directive. In addition, quality requirements are imposed by healthcare industry manufacturers and
pharmaceutical companies which audit our operations on a regular basis. Each of our manufacturing locations are licensed or registered with the
appropriate local authority. We believe we are in material compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations, as well as prevailing industry best
practices, in the conduct of our business operations outside of the United States.
Since we market our products worldwide, certain products of a local nature and variations of product lines must also meet other local regulatory
requirements. Certain additional risks are inherent in conducting business outside the United States, including price and currency exchange controls,
changes in currency exchange rates, limitations on participation in local enterprises, expropriation, nationalization, and other governmental action. Demand
for many of our existing and new medical devices is, and will continue to be, affected by the extent to which government healthcare programs and private
health insurers reimburse our customers for patients’ medical expenses in the countries where we do business. Statutory and regulatory requirements for
Medicaid, Medicare, and other government healthcare programs govern provider reimbursement levels. From time to time, legislative changes are made to
government healthcare programs that impact our business, and the federal and/or state governments may continue to enact measures in the future aimed at
containing or reducing reimbursement levels for medical expenses paid for in whole or in part with government funds. We cannot predict the nature of such
measures or their impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Any reduction in the amount of reimbursements
received by our customers could harm our business by reducing their selection of our products, their ability to pay and the prices they are willing to pay.
Compliance with these laws and regulations is costly and materially affects our business. Among other effects, healthcare regulations substantially
increase the time, difficulty and costs incurred in obtaining and maintaining approval to market newly developed and existing products. We believe we are
in material compliance with all statutes and regulations applicable to our operations.
Human Capital Resources
Employee Overview
At Owens & Minor, teammates are at the heart of everything that we do. Through their creativity, talent and hard work, our teammates allow
Owens & Minor to offer exceptional products and services and provide the force that propels our mission to empower our customers to advance healthcare.
Thus, Owens & Minor is committed to providing a culture and benefits necessary to attract and retain top talent. Owens & Minor also is committed to
creating an environment that allows our teammates to perform at a high level, emphasizes a culture of safety and is conducive to professional and personal
growth.
At the end of 2020, Owens & Minor employed approximately 6,300 full- and part-time teammates in the U.S. and 12,500 teammates outside of the
U.S. None of Owens & Minor’s domestic teammates are represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement (“CBA”), but most of
our teammates outside the U.S. (OUS) are represented and covered by a CBA. Throughout our operations, we continue to have positive relationships with
our teammates, as well as the unions and works councils that represent our OUS teammates.
We depend on our key personnel to successfully operate our business, including our executive officers, senior corporate management and
management at our operating segments. We seek to attract and retain top talent for these critical roles by offering competitive base and incentive
compensation packages (and in certain instances share-based compensation and retention incentives), attractive benefits and opportunities for advancement
and rewarding careers. We periodically review and adjust, if needed, our teammates’ total compensation (including salaries, annual cash incentive
compensation, other cash and equity incentives, and benefits) to ensure that our offerings are competitive within the industry and consistent with Company
performance. We have also implemented enterprise-wide talent development and succession planning programs designed to identify future and/or
replacement candidates for key positions. In addition to compensation, we promote numerous charitable, philanthropic, and social awareness programs that
not only support the communities we serve, but also provide experiences for teammates to promote a collaborative and rewarding work environment.
In order to take advantage of available opportunities and successfully implement our long-term strategy, Owens & Minor understands that we
must be able to employ, train and retain the necessary skilled personnel. To that end, Owens & Minor supports and utilizes various training and educational
initiatives, and we have developed Company-wide and project-specific employee training and educational programs. Key programs focus on employee
safety, leadership development, health and wellness, work-life balance, talent management, diversity and inclusion, and employee engagement. At Owens
& Minor,
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we believe that diversity, inclusion and teammate engagement are integral to our vision, strategy and business success, and we pride ourselves on sustaining
a culture that respects teammates and values concern for others. We believe that fostering an environment that values diversity, inclusion and ethical
conduct creates an organization that is able to embrace, leverage and respect differences among our teammates, customers and the communities where we
live, work and serve. We also believe that our teammates are the face of Owens & Minor, and we expect every teammate to model our shared values and
commitment to ethical business practices set forth in our Code of Honor.
We believe that our efforts to create an environment that is conducive to our values and teammate success have been rewarded, as Owens & Minor
continues to enjoy high levels of teammate engagement, satisfaction and retention. We also hold our teammates to a high standard of performance, and we
regularly evaluate teammates’ productivity against current requirements, future demand expectations and historical trends. From time to time, we may add,
reduce or adjust resources in certain areas in an effort to align with changing demands.
Our Board of Directors’ Role in Human Capital Resource Management
Our Board of Directors believes that human capital management, and the ability to attract, retain and develop key talent, is an essential component
of Owens & Minor’s continued growth and success. Our Board also believes that effective human capital management is vital to maintaining a culture that
reflects Owens & Minor’s core values and our shared commitment to excellence and ethical business practices.
Management regularly reports to the Compensation and Benefits Committee of the Board of Directors on human capital management topics,
including corporate culture, diversity and inclusion, teammate development and compensation and benefits. From time to time, Owens & Minor also
conducts teammate engagement surveys to solicit feedback, and reports to the Board on findings developed through these surveys. The Compensation and
Benefits Committee has oversight of talent retention and development, including succession planning, and the Board of Directors provides input on
important decisions in each of these areas.
Employee Benefits
The Compensation and Benefits Committee believes employee benefits are an essential component of a competitive total compensation package.
Owens & Minor’s benefits programs are designed to attract and retain our top talent, and include medical, health and dental insurance, long-term disability
insurance, accidental death and disability insurance, travel and accident insurance, and our 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan. As part of the 401(k)
Savings and Retirement Plan, Owens & Minor generally matches 100 percent of the first 4 percent of compensation contributed by a teammate into the
401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan, subject to the Internal Revenue Code and our 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan limits. Additionally, Owens &
Minor may make a discretionary contribution (subject to certain limitations as defined in the 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan document) to each
participant employed on the last day of the plan year who has worked at least 1,000 hours during the year. Lastly, Owens & Minor may also make a profit
sharing contribution to the 401(k) Savings and Retirement Plan, at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
COVID-19 Response
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic experienced in 2020, Owens & Minor implemented health and safety protocols to protect our teammates
and customers. These protocols meet or exceed health and safety standards required by federal, state and local government agencies, and are based on
guidance from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and other public health authorities. Actions taken to protect our teammates and customers in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic include:
•

Providing personal protective equipment (PPE) to teammates in distribution and manufacturing locations;

•

Training teammates on proper use of PPE, social distancing, and other mitigation efforts;

•

Implementing temperature scans and quarantine protocols;

•

Significantly increased remote work and virtual interactions among teammates and with customers;

•

Policies were adjusted to assist teammates that need time away from work due to illness, potential exposure or to care for sick family members;

•

Adjusted product delivery methods to keep drivers and hospital personnel safe.

For additional discussion of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, including on our human capital resources, refer to the Risk Factors in
Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
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Available Information
We make our Forms 10-K, Forms 10-Q and Forms 8-K (and all amendments to these reports) available free of charge through the SEC Filings link
in the Investor Relations content section on our website located at www.owens-minor.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or
furnished to the SEC. Information included on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
You may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. You
may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains an Internet site
that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding Owens & Minor, Inc. (http://www.sec.gov).
Additionally, we have adopted a written Code of Honor that applies to all of our directors, officers and teammates, including our principal
executive officer and senior financial officers. This Code of Honor (including any amendments to or waivers of a provision thereof) and our Corporate
Governance Guidelines are available on our website at www.owens-minor.com.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
Set forth below are certain risk factors that we currently believe could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. These risk factors are in addition to those mentioned in other parts of this report and are not all of the risks that we face. We
could also be affected by risks that we currently are not aware of or that we currently do not consider material to our business.
We are subject to risks related to public health crises or future outbreaks of health crises or other adverse public health developments such as the global
pandemic associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19).
As a global healthcare solutions company, we are impacted by public health crises such as the global pandemic associated with COVID-19. The
outbreak has significantly increased uncertainty and unpredictability of global economic conditions and the demand for and supply of raw materials and
finished goods required for our operations. In addition, public and private sector policies and initiatives to reduce the transmission of COVID-19, such as
the imposition of travel restrictions and the adoption of remote working, have impacted our operations. In these challenging and dynamic circumstances,
we continue to work to protect our teammates and the public, maintain business continuity and sustain our operations, including ensuring the safety and
protection of the people who work in our production and distribution centers across the world, many of whom support the manufacturing and delivery of
products that are critical in response to the global pandemic. We may restrict the operations of our production and distribution centers if we deem it
necessary or if recommended or mandated by governmental authorities which would have an adverse impact on us. There is a risk that revenues will
decrease ultimately resulting in less cash flow, we may see longer duration in receivables collection, and the need to expedite payments to important
suppliers may grow. COVID-19 has impacted and may further impact our supply chains relative to global demand for our facial protection, nitrile gloves,
and protective apparel products. COVID-19 has also affected and may further affect the ability of suppliers and vendors to provide products and services to
us or to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices. Some of these factors could increase the demand for our products, while others could decrease demand
or make it more difficult for us to serve customers. For example, the significant reduction in elective surgical procedures, which began mid-March of 2020,
resulted in a material negative impact on our revenue for 2020. Any worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic or future outbreaks could result in similar
reductions in elective surgical procedures or otherwise reduce demand for our products, any of which could have a material negative impact on our
revenues and profit for future periods.
Although we have experienced significant growth in sales volumes for certain of our products (such as PPE) during the COVID-19 pandemic, as
well as improved productivity and manufacturing output, there can be no assurance that such growth rates, increased sales volumes or other improvements
will be maintained during or following the COVID-19 pandemic. We may also see a decline in such growth rates and sales volumes when the impact of the
pandemic subsides and the healthcare system returns to a more normalized state. In particular, demand for such products may also decline as governmentsponsored COVID-19 response stimulus, relief and production initiatives, such as those under the Defense Production Act (DPA) and the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief and Economic Security (CARES) Act, expire. An accelerated shift of demand away from certain of our products and services could also adversely
impact our revenues and profit margins.
Furthermore, COVID-19 has impacted and may further impact the broader economies of affected countries, including negatively impacting
economic growth, the proper functioning of financial and capital markets, foreign currency exchange rates, and interest rates. For example, the continued
spread of COVID-19 has led to disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, which increases the cost of capital and adversely impacts access to
capital. Due to the speed with which the situation is developing and the uncertainty of its duration, any future outbreaks, similar pandemics, the timing of
recovery, travel restrictions, business closures or business disruptions, a recession, depression or other sustained adverse market event
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resulting from the spread of the COVID-19 and the effectiveness of actions taken in the United States and other countries to contain and treat the disease,
we are not able at this time to predict the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, or any future outbreaks or similar pandemics, may have a material
effect on our financial or operational results. However, the following adverse risks exist:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Actions by the United States government or other foreign government could affect our business. These actions include purchasing products that
we make or sell, imposing new product standards or allowing the use of alternative products, instituting regulatory requirements to purchase only
locally manufactured products, exercising control over manufacturing or distribution operations, including use of the DPA, taking trade actions
including the imposition or removal of tariffs or import / export controls, subsidizing the supply of products, or other actions;
Quarantine decisions by public or private entities may influence our ability to operate or our ability to ship or receive products. For example, if
shipping companies cease or reduce land or sea freight channels, raw material and finished good deliveries may be slowed or stopped;
Our customers may change their payment patterns or lose their ability to pay invoices, which could have a material adverse impact on our cash
flow;
Our suppliers may increase pricing or impose new purchasing requirements, such as minimum purchase quantities or pay-in-advance payment
terms, which could have a material adverse impact on our cash flow;
Raw materials or finished goods that we require for our operations may not be available, or pricing for such items may increase beyond the
willingness of our customers to pay;
New competitors may enter our market, including both small and large scale manufacturers;
COVID-19 illness among our workers in manufacturing or distribution operations could impact our operations or compel the closure of one or
more facilities for an unknown period of time. Labor relations in our facilities related to COVID-19 could also negatively impact our operations;
We may invest in additional manufacturing capacity for which demand slows in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our
cash flow; and
Technology infrastructure failures could materially inhibit our operations that currently include a substantial portion of remote work. For example,
voice or data line failures resulting from natural, manmade or cyber-attack could impair our ability to operate.

We have incurred additional costs to ensure we meet the needs of our customers, including increasing our workforce in order to produce or
distribute certain essential products for our customers, providing personal protective equipment to our workforce, incremental shipping and transportation
costs, incremental technology costs, and additional cleaning costs throughout our facilities. We expect to continue to incur additional costs, which may be
significant as we continue to implement operational changes in response to this pandemic, any future outbreaks or similar pandemics. Further, our
management is focused on mitigating COVID-19, which has required and will continue to require, a large investment of time and resources across our
enterprise and will delay other value added services and strategic initiatives. Additionally, some of our teammates are currently working remotely. An
extended period of remote work arrangements, and any worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic, or future outbreaks, could strain our business continuity
plans, introduce operational risk, including but not limited to cybersecurity risks, and impair our ability to manage our business. If we do not respond
appropriately to the pandemic, any future outbreaks or similar pandemics, or if customers do not perceive our response to be adequate for the United States
or our international markets, we could suffer damage to our reputation and our brands, which could adversely affect our business.
The impact of COVID-19 may also exacerbate other risks discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, any of which
could have a material effect on us. This situation is changing rapidly and additional impacts may arise that we are not aware of currently.
We face competition and accelerating pricing pressure.
The medical/surgical supply distribution industry in the United States is highly competitive and characterized by pricing and margin pressure for
our business. We compete with other national distributors and a number of regional and local distributors, as well as customer self-distribution models and,
to a lesser extent, certain outsourced logistics companies. Competitive factors within the medical/surgical supply distribution industry include market
pricing, total delivered product cost, product availability, the ability to fill and invoice orders accurately, delivery time, range of services provided, efficient
product sourcing, inventory management, information technology, electronic commerce capabilities, and the ability to meet customer-specific
requirements. Our success is dependent on the ability to compete on the above factors, while managing internal costs and expenses.
These competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.In addition, in recent years,
the healthcare industry in the United States has experienced and continues to experience significant consolidation in response to cost containment
legislation and general market pressures to reduce costs. This consolidation of our
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customers and suppliers generally gives them greater bargaining power to reduce the pricing available to them, which may adversely impact our results of
operations and financial condition.
We have concentration in and dependence on certain healthcare provider customers and Group Purchasing Organizations.
In 2020, although no single customer accounted for 5% of our consolidated net revenue, our top ten customers in the United States represented
approximately 21% of our consolidated net revenue. In addition, in 2020, approximately 72% of our consolidated net revenue was from sales to member
hospitals under contract with our largest group purchasing organizations (GPO): Vizient, Premier and HPG. We could lose a significant healthcare provider
customer or GPO relationship if an existing contract expires without being replaced or is terminated by the customer or GPO prior to its expiration.
Although the termination of our relationship with a given GPO would not necessarily result in the loss of the member hospitals as customers, any such
termination of a GPO relationship, or a significant individual healthcare provider customer relationship, could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.
Our operating income is dependent on certain significant domestic suppliers.
In North America, we distribute products from approximately 1,100 suppliers and are dependent on these suppliers for the continuing supply of
products. In 2020, sales of products of our ten largest domestic suppliers accounted for approximately 41% of consolidated net revenue. No sales of
products of any individual suppliers exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue for 2020. We rely on suppliers to provide agreeable purchasing and
delivery terms and performance incentives. Our ability to sustain adequate operating income has been, and will continue to be, dependent upon our ability
to obtain favorable terms and incentives from suppliers, as well as suppliers continuing use of third-party distributors to sell and deliver their products. A
change in terms by a significant supplier, the decision of such a supplier to distribute its products directly to healthcare providers rather than through thirdparty distributors, or a key supplier’s failure to sell and deliver us products necessary to meet our customers’ demands could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition.
An interruption in the ability of our business to manufacture products may have a material adverse effect on our business.
We manufacture the majority of our products in nine facilities: four in the United States, one each in Thailand, Ireland and Honduras and two in
Mexico. If one or more of these facilities experience damage, or if these manufacturing capabilities are otherwise limited or stopped due to quality,
regulatory or other reasons, including pandemic, natural disasters, geopolitical events, prolonged power or equipment failures, labor disputes or
unsuccessful imports/exports of products as well as supply chain transportation disruptions, it may not be possible to timely manufacture the relevant
products at required levels or at all. A reduction or interruption in any of these manufacturing processes could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
An inability to obtain key components, raw materials or manufactured products from third parties may have a material adverse effect on our Global
Products segment.
Our Global Products segment depends on the availability of various components, raw materials and manufactured products supplied by others for
its operations. If the capabilities of suppliers and third-party manufacturers are limited or stopped, due to quality, regulatory or other reasons, including
pandemic, natural disasters, geopolitical events, prolonged power or equipment failures, labor disputes or unsuccessful imports/exports of products as well
as supply chain transportation disruptions, or other reasons, that could negatively impact our ability to manufacture or deliver our products and could lead
to exposure to regulatory actions. Further, for quality assurance or cost effectiveness, we have purchased from sole suppliers certain components and raw
materials such as polymers used in our products, and we expect to continue to purchase these components and raw materials from these sole suppliers.
Although there are other sources in the market place for these items, we may not be able to quickly establish additional or replacement sources for certain
components or materials due to regulations and requirements of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and other regulatory authorities regarding
the manufacture of our products. The loss of any sole supplier or any sustained supply interruption that affects the ability to manufacture or deliver our
products in a timely or cost effective manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Our Global Products segment is exposed to price fluctuations of key commodities, which may negatively impact our results of operations.
Our Global Products segment relies on product inputs, such as polypropylene and nitrile, as well as other commodities, in the manufacture of its
products. Prices of these commodities are volatile and have fluctuated significantly in recent years, which may contribute to fluctuations in our results of
operations. The ability to hedge commodity prices is limited. Furthermore, due to competitive dynamics, we may be unable to pass along commoditydriven cost increases through higher prices. If we cannot fully offset cost increases through other cost reductions, or recover these costs through price
increases or
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surcharges, we could experience lower margins and profitability which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
Our results of operations may suffer upon the bankruptcy, insolvency, or other credit failure of a customer that has a substantial amount owed to us.
We provide credit in the normal course of business to customers. We perform initial and ongoing credit evaluations of customers and maintain
reserves for credit losses. The bankruptcy, insolvency or other credit failure of one or more customers with substantial balances due to us could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Changing conditions in the United States healthcare industry may impact our results of operations.
A large percentage of our revenue is derived in the United States. We, along with our customers and suppliers, are subject to extensive federal and
state regulations relating to healthcare as well as the policies and practices of the private healthcare insurance industry. In recent years, there have been a
number of government and private initiatives to reduce healthcare costs and government spending. These changes have included an increased reliance on
managed care; reductions in Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement levels; consolidation of competitors, suppliers and customers; a shift in healthcare
provider venues from acute care settings to clinics, physician offices and home care; and the development of larger, more sophisticated purchasing groups.
All of these changes place additional financial pressure on healthcare provider customers, who in turn seek to reduce the costs and pricing of products and
services provided by us. We expect the healthcare industry to continue to change significantly and these potential changes, which may include a reduction
in government support of healthcare services, adverse changes in legislation or regulations, and further reductions in healthcare reimbursement practices,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our debt and other obligations.
As of December 31, 2020, on a consolidated basis we had approximately $1.0 billion of aggregate principal amount of secured indebtedness as
well as approximately $211 million in contractual obligations under our operating leasing arrangements and $283 million of undrawn availability under our
credit facilities. Our ratio of total debt to total shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2020 was 144%.
Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness and our other obligations will depend on our financial and operating performance, which is
subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to
maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.
If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and
capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful
and may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. We cannot assure you that we would be able to implement any of these alternatives
on satisfactory terms or at all. In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and may be required to
dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain
the proceeds that we could realize from them, and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.
If we are unable to service our debt obligations from cash flows, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our debt obligations prior to
maturity. Our ability to refinance or restructure our debt will depend upon our financial condition or the condition of the capital markets at such time. Any
refinancing of our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our
business operations. We may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
We may not be able to refinance, extend or repay our substantial indebtedness which would have a material adverse affect on our financial condition.
Our 2024 Notes become due and payable in December 2024. We may need to raise capital in order to repay the 2024 Notes. As of December 31,
2020, we owed $246 million in principal under our 2024 Notes. If we are unable to raise sufficient capital to repay this obligation at maturity and we are
otherwise unable to extend the maturity dates or refinance this obligation, we would be in default. Additionally, our Credit Agreement has a “springing
maturity date” with respect to the Term B Loan. If as of the date 91 days prior to the maturity date of our 2024 Notes, all outstanding amounts under the
2024 Notes have not been paid in full, the Termination Date of the Term B Loan shall be the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity date of the 2024
Notes. We cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to raise the necessary amount of capital to repay this obligation or that we will be able to
extend the maturity dates or otherwise refinance this obligation. Upon a default, our lenders would have
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the right to exercise its rights and remedies to collect, which would include foreclosing on our assets. Accordingly, a default would have a material adverse
effect on our business and financial condition.
Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our indebtedness service obligations to increase significantly.
Certain borrowings under our Credit Agreement and Receivables Securitization Program bear interest at variable rates and expose us to interest
rate risk. If interest rates were to increase, our debt service obligations on our variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed
remained the same, and our earnings and cash flows will correspondingly decrease.
Our credit facilities and our existing notes have restrictive covenants that could limit our financial flexibility.
Our Credit Agreement, including our Term Loans and Revolver, Receivables Securitization Program, as well as the indentures that govern our
existing senior notes, contain financial and other restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best
interests.
Our credit facilities and the indentures governing our existing notes include restrictions that, among other things, limit our ability to: incur
indebtedness; grant liens; engage in acquisitions, mergers, consolidations and liquidations; use of proceeds from asset dispositions for general corporate
purposes, restricted payments, or investments; enter into transactions with affiliates; make capital expenditures; and amend, modify or prepay certain
indebtedness. Under our credit facilities, we are subject to financial covenants that require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage,
including on a pro forma basis in the event of an acquisition.
Our failure to comply with these restrictions or covenants could result in a default under the agreements governing the relevant indebtedness. If a
default under the credit facilities and the indentures governing our existing notes is not cured or waived, such default could result in the acceleration of debt
or other payment obligations under our debt or other agreements that contain cross-acceleration, cross-default or similar provisions, which could require us
to repurchase or pay debt or other obligations prior to the date it is otherwise due.
Our ability to comply with covenants contained in the credit facilities, including the Credit Agreement and Receivables Securitization Program,
and the indentures governing our existing senior notes and any other debt or other agreements to which we are or may become a party, may be affected by
events beyond our control, including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. Even if we are able to comply with all of the applicable
covenants, the restrictions on our ability to manage our business in our sole discretion could adversely affect our business by, among other things, limiting
our ability to take advantage of financings, mergers, acquisitions and other corporate opportunities that we believe would be beneficial to us.
We may incur product liability losses, litigation liability, product recalls, safety alerts or regulatory action associated with the products that we source,
assemble, manufacture and sell which can be costly and disruptive to our business.
The risk of product liability claims is inherent in the design, assembly, manufacture and marketing of the medical products of the types we sell. A
number of factors could result in an unsafe condition or injury to, or death of, a patient with respect to the products that we source, assemble, manufacture
or sell, including physician technique and experience in performing the relevant surgical procedure, component failures, manufacturing flaws, design
defects or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or information.
In addition to product liability claims and litigation, an unsafe condition or injury to, or death of, a patient associated with our products could lead
to a recall of, or issuance of a safety alert relating to, our products, or suspension or delay of regulatory product approvals or clearances, product seizures or
detentions, governmental investigations, civil or criminal sanctions or injunctions to halt manufacturing and distribution of our products. Any one of these
could result in significant costs and negative publicity resulting in reduced market acceptance and demand for our products and harm our reputation. In
addition, a recall or injunction affecting our products could temporarily shut down production lines or place products on a shipping hold.
All of the foregoing types of legal proceedings and regulatory actions are inherently unpredictable and, regardless of the outcome, could disrupt
our business, result in substantial costs or the diversion of management attention and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.
We must obtain clearance or approval from the appropriate regulatory authorities prior to introducing a new product or a modification to an existing
product. The regulatory clearance process may result in substantial costs, delays and limitations on the types and uses of products we can bring to
market, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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In the United States, before we can market a new product, or a new use of, or claim for, or significant modification to, an existing product, we
generally must first receive clearance or approval from the FDA and certain other regulatory authorities. Most major markets for medical products outside
the United States also require clearance, approval or compliance with certain standards before a product can be commercially marketed. The process of
obtaining regulatory clearances and approvals to market a medical product can be costly and time consuming, involve rigorous pre-clinical and clinical
testing, require changes in products or result in limitations on the indicated uses of products. We cannot assure you that these clearances and approvals will
be granted on a timely basis, or at all. In addition, once a medical product has been cleared or approved, a new clearance or approval may be required
before it may be modified, its labeling changed or marketed for a different use. Medical products are cleared or approved for one or more specific intended
uses and promoting a device for an off-label use could result in government enforcement action. Furthermore, a product approval or clearance can be
withdrawn or limited due to unforeseen problems with the medical product or issues relating to its application. The regulatory clearance and approval
process may result in, among other things, delayed, if at all, realization of product net sales, substantial additional costs and limitations on the types of
products we may bring to market or their indicated uses, any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.
Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to adequately establish, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property and proprietary
rights or prevent third parties from making unauthorized use of such rights.
Our intellectual property is an important part of our business. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could result in our
competitors offering similar products and services, potentially resulting in the loss of our competitive advantage and a decrease in our revenue, which
would adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition and results of operations. Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our
proprietary rights and intellectual property. We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, such as patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets
(including know-how) and domain names, in addition to employee and third-party confidentiality agreements, intellectual property licenses and other
contractual rights, to establish, maintain, protect and enforce our rights in our technology, proprietary information and processes. For example, we rely on
trademark protection to protect our rights to various marks as well as distinctive logos and other marks associated with our products and services.
Furthermore, intellectual property laws and our procedures and restrictions provide only limited protection and any of our intellectual property rights may
be challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated. If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, we may lose an
important advantage in the markets in which we compete.
Other parties may also independently develop technologies, products and services that are substantially similar or superior to ours. We also may be
forced to bring claims against third parties. However, the measures we take to protect our intellectual property from unauthorized use by others may not be
effective, and there can be no assurance that our intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others offering technologies, products or
services that are substantially similar or superior to ours and that compete with our business. Our management’s attention may be diverted by these
attempts, and we may need to use funds in litigation to protect our proprietary rights against any infringement, misappropriation or other violation.
We may become subject to litigation brought by third parties claiming infringement, misappropriation or other violation by us of their intellectual
property rights.
Our commercial success depends in part on avoiding infringement, misappropriation or other violations of the intellectual property and proprietary
rights of third parties. However, we may become party to disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property held by
third parties. For example, third parties may allege that we have infringed upon or not obtained sufficient rights in the technologies used in our products
and services. We cannot assure that we are not infringing or violating, and have not infringed or violated, any third-party intellectual property rights, or that
we will not be held to have done so or be accused of doing so in the future. Any claim that we have violated intellectual property or other proprietary rights
of third parties, with or without merit, and whether or not it results in litigation, is settled out of court or is determined in our favor, could be time
consuming and costly to address and resolve, and could divert the time and attention of management and technical personnel from our business. Our
liability insurance may not cover potential claims of this type adequately or at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Our business and operations depend on the proper functioning of critical facilities, supply chain and distribution networks.
Damage or disruption to our supply chain and distribution capabilities due to pandemic, weather, natural disaster, fire, terrorism, strikes, the
financial and/or operational instability of key suppliers, geo-political events or other reasons could impair our ability to distribute products and conduct our
business. To the extent that we are unable, or it is not financially feasible, to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to manage
effectively such events if they occur, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. For example,
COVID-19 has caused supply
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chain disruptions for certain manufacturers of medical products and an increased demand for these products resulting in the implementation of product
allocations by certain manufacturers.
Our operations depend on the proper functioning of information systems, and our business could be adversely affected if we experience a cyber-attack
or other systems breach.
We rely on information systems to receive, process, analyze and manage data in distributing thousands of inventory products to customers from
numerous distribution and outsourced logistics centers. These systems are also relied upon for billings to and collections from customers, as well as the
purchase of and payment for inventory and related transactions from our suppliers. In addition, the success of our long-term growth strategy is dependent
upon the ability to continually monitor and upgrade our information systems to provide better service to customers. Our business and results of operations
may be materially adversely affected if systems are interrupted or damaged by unforeseen events (including cyber-attacks) or fail to operate for an extended
period of time, or if we fail to appropriately enhance our systems to support growth and strategic initiatives.
We are subject to stringent regulatory and licensing requirements.
We are required to comply with extensive and complex laws and regulations at the federal, state and local government levels in the United States
and other countries where we operate. We also are required to hold permits and licenses and to comply with the operational and security standards of
various governmental bodies and agencies. Any failure to comply with these laws and regulations or any failure to maintain the necessary permits, licenses
or approvals, or to comply with the required standards, could disrupt our operations and/or adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.
Among the U.S. healthcare related laws that we are subject to include the U.S. federal Anti-kickback Statute, the U.S. federal Stark Law, the False
Claims Act and similar state laws relating to fraud, waste and abuse. The requirements of these laws are complex and subject to varying interpretations, and
it is possible that regulatory authorities could challenge our policies and practices. If we fail to comply with these laws, we could be subject to federal or
state government investigations or qui tam actions (false claims cases initiated by private parties purporting to act on behalf of federal or state
governments), which could result in civil or criminal sanctions, including the loss of licenses or the ability to participate in Medicare, Medicaid and other
federal and state healthcare programs. Such sanctions and damages could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Our global operations are also subject to risks of violation of laws, including those that prohibit improper payments to and bribery of government
officials and other individuals and organizations. These laws include the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and other similar laws
and regulations in foreign jurisdictions, any violation of which could result in substantial liability and a loss of reputation in the marketplace. Failure to
comply with these laws also could subject us to civil and criminal penalties that could adversely affect our business and results of operations.
Our Byram business is a Medicare-certified supplier and participates in state Medicaid programs. Failure to comply with applicable standards and
regulations could result in civil or criminal sanctions, including the loss of our ability to participate in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state
healthcare programs.
We collect, handle and maintain patient-identifiable health information and other sensitive personal and financial information, which are subject to
federal, state and foreign laws that regulate the use and disclosure of such information. Regulations currently in place continue to evolve, and new laws in
this area could further restrict our ability to collect, handle and maintain personal or patient information, or could require us to incur additional compliance
costs, either of which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations. Violations of federal (such as the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, or HIPAA), state or foreign laws (such as the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation, as amended,
or GDPR) concerning privacy and data protection could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, breach of contract claims, costs for remediation and harm
to our reputation.
Compliance with the terms and conditions of Byram’s Corporate Integrity Agreement requires significant resources and, if we fail to comply, we could
be subject to penalties or excluded from participation in government healthcare programs, which could seriously harm our results of operations,
liquidity and financial condition.
Prior to its acquisition by Owens & Minor, Byram entered into a five-year Corporate Integrity Agreement beginning April 2016 with the Office of
Inspector General of the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“OIG”). The Corporate Integrity Agreement provides that Byram shall,
among other things, establish and maintain a compliance program, including a corporate compliance officer and committee, a code of conduct,
comprehensive compliance policies and procedures, training and monitoring, a review process for certain arrangements between Byram and referral
sources, a compliance hotline, an open door policy and a disciplinary process for compliance violations. The Corporate Integrity
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Agreement further provides that Byram shall provide periodic reports to the OIG, complete certain regular certifications and engage an Independent
Review Organization to perform reviews of certain arrangements between Byram and referral sources.
Failing to meet the Corporate Integrity Agreement obligations could have material adverse consequences for Byram including monetary penalties
for each instance of non-compliance. In addition, in the event of an uncured material breach or deliberate violation of the Corporate Integrity Agreement,
we could be excluded from participation in federal healthcare programs, or other significant penalties, which could seriously harm our results of operations,
liquidity and financial results.
We could be subject to adverse changes in the tax laws or challenges to our tax positions.
We operate throughout the United States and other countries. As a result, we are subject to the tax laws and regulations of the United States
federal, state and local governments and of various foreign jurisdictions. From time to time, legislative and regulatory initiatives are proposed, including
but not limited to proposals to repeal LIFO (last-in, first-out) treatment of inventory in the United States or changes in tax accounting methods for
inventory, import tariffs and taxes, or other tax items. In addition, a new presidential administration and a new Congress recently took office in the United
States. It is not yet known what changes Congress, working with the President, will make to existing tax laws and how those changes (if any) will affect the
economy, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. These and other changes in tax laws and regulations could adversely affect
our tax positions, tax rate or cash payments for taxes. There can be no assurance that our effective tax rate will not be materially adversely affected by
legislation resulting from these initiatives.
Our global operations increase the extent of our exposure to the economic, political, currency, regulatory and other risks of international operations.
Our global operations involve issues and risks, including but not limited to the following, any of which could have an adverse effect on our
business and results of operations:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lack of familiarity with and expertise in conducting business in foreign markets;
Foreign currency fluctuations and exchange risk;
Unexpected changes in foreign regulations or conditions relating to labor, the economic or political environment, and social norms or
requirements;
Adverse tax consequences and difficulties in repatriating cash generated or held abroad;
Local economic environments, recession, inflation, indebtedness, currency volatility and competition; and
Changes in trade protection laws and other laws affecting trade and investment, including import/export regulations in both the United States and
foreign countries.

General economic conditions may adversely affect demand for our products and services.
Poor or deteriorating economic conditions in the United States and the other countries in which we conduct business could adversely affect the
demand for healthcare services and consequently, the demand for our products and services. Poor economic conditions also could lead our suppliers to offer
less favorable terms of purchase to distributors, which would negatively affect our profitability. These and other possible consequences of financial and
economic decline could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our continued success is substantially dependent on positive perceptions of our reputation.
One of the reasons why customers choose to do business with us and why teammates choose us as a place of employment is the reputation that we
have built over many years. To be successful in the future, we must continue to preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand. Reputational value is
based in large part on perceptions of subjective qualities. Even an isolated incident, or the aggregate effect of individually insignificant incidents, can erode
trust and confidence, particularly if they result in adverse publicity, governmental investigations or litigation, and as a result, could tarnish our brand and
lead to adverse effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may experience competition from third-party online commerce sites.
Traditional distribution relationships are being challenged by online commerce solutions. Such competition will require us to cost-effectively
adapt to changing technology, to continue to provide enhanced service offerings and to continue to differentiate our business (including with additional
value-added services) to address demands of consumers and customers on a timely basis. The emergence of such competition and our inability to anticipate
and effectively respond to changes on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Audits by tax authorities could result in additional tax payments for prior periods, and tax legislation could materially adversely affect our financial
results and tax liabilities.
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The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by U.S. federal, state and local tax authorities and by non-U.S. tax authorities. In
addition, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. Although we believe that our historical tax positions are
sound and consistent with applicable laws, regulations and existing precedent, they can be no assurance that our tax positions will not be challenged by
relevant tax authorities or that we would be successful in any such challenge. If these audits result in assessments different from our reserves, our future
results may include unfavorable adjustments to our tax liabilities.
Our goodwill may become impaired, which would require us to record a significant charge to earnings in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles.
U.S. GAAP requires us to test our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if indicators for potential impairment exist. The
testing required by GAAP involves estimates and judgments by management. Although we believe our assumptions and estimates are reasonable and
appropriate, any changes in key assumptions, including a failure to meet business plans or other unanticipated events and circumstances such as a rise in
interest rates, may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates. No impairment charges to goodwill were recorded in 2020 or 2019. We may be required
to record a significant charge to earnings in our consolidated financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill is determined,
which charge could adversely affect our results of operations.
The market price for our common stock may be highly volatile.
The market price for our common stock may be highly volatile. A variety of factors may have a significant impact on the market price of our
common stock, including, but not limited to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the publication of earnings estimates or other research reports and speculation in the press or investment community;
the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in these projections or our failure to meet these projections;
changes in our industry and competitors;
changes in government or legislation;
changes in our board of directors or management;
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and prospects;
activism by any single large shareholder or combination of shareholders;
lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
any future issuances of our common stock, which may include primary offerings for cash, stock splits, issuances in connection with business
acquisitions, issuances of restricted stock/units and the grant or exercise of stock options from time to time;
trading volume of our common stock;
general market and economic conditions;
any outbreak or escalation of hostilities in areas where we do business;
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, any worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic, or future outbreaks and any future pandemics; and
the other factors discussed in Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Annual Report on Form 10-K, any of which could have a material effect on us.

In addition, the NYSE can experience price and volume fluctuations that can be unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the
companies listed on NYSE. Broad market and industry factors may negatively affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of actual operating
performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been
instituted against companies. This type of litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our inability to adequately integrate acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our operations.
In connection with our growth strategy, we from time to time acquire other businesses, that we believe will expand or complement our existing
businesses and operations. The integration of acquisitions involves a number of significant risks, which may include but are not limited to, the following:

•
•
•

Expenses and difficulties in the transition and integration of operations and systems;
Retention of current customers and the ability to obtain new customers;
The assimilation and retention of personnel, including management personnel, in the acquired businesses;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Accounting, tax, regulatory and compliance issues that could arise;
Difficulties in implementing uniform controls, procedures and policies in our acquired companies;
Unanticipated expenses incurred or charges to earnings based on unknown circumstances or liabilities;
Failure to realize the synergies and other benefits we expect from the acquisition or at the pace we anticipate;
General economic conditions in the markets in which the acquired businesses operate;
Difficulties encountered in conducting business in markets where we have limited experience and expertise;
Failure to fully integrate information technology;
Inadequate indemnification from the seller; and
Failure of the seller to perform under any transition services agreement.

If we are unable to successfully complete and integrate our strategic acquisitions in a timely manner, our business, growth strategies and results of
operations could be adversely affected.
Our ability to attract and retain talented and qualified teammates is critical to our success and competitiveness.
The success of our business depends on our ability to attract, engage, develop and retain qualified and experienced teammates, including key
executives. We may not be able to successfully compete for, attract, or retain qualified and experienced teammates. Competition among potential employers
might result in increased salaries, benefits or other employee-related costs, or in our failure to recruit and retain teammates. We may experience sudden loss
of key personnel due to a variety of causes, including illness, and must adequately plan for succession of key executive roles. Teammates might not
successfully transition into new roles. Any of these risks might have a materially adverse impact on our business operations and our financial position or
results of operations.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties
Our Global Solutions segment operated distribution centers as well as office and warehouse space across the United States as of December 31,
2020. We leased all of the centers from unaffiliated third parties with the exception of two locations, one of which we own and the other is owned by a
customer. We also leased customer service centers as well as small offices for sales personnel across the United States. In addition, we leased space on a
temporary basis from time to time to meet our inventory storage needs.
At December 31, 2020, our Global Products segment operated facilities located throughout the world that handle production, assembly, research,
quality assurance testing, distribution and packaging of our products.
We own our corporate headquarters building, and adjacent acreage, in Mechanicsville, Virginia, a suburb of Richmond, Virginia.
The following table provides a summary of our principal facilities:
Owned

Production
Distribution
Storage
Office
Total

6
1
—
1
8

Leased

3
48
10
29
90

Other

Total

—
1
—
—
1

9
50
10
30
99

Location

United States, Europe, Honduras, Mexico and Thailand
United States, Canada and India
United States, Honduras and Mexico
United States, Asia, Australia, Canada and Europe

We regularly assess our business needs and make changes to the capacity and location of distribution and outsourced logistics centers. We believe
that our facilities are adequate to carry on our business as currently conducted. A number of leases are scheduled to terminate within the next several years.
We believe that, if necessary, we could find facilities to replace these leased premises without suffering a material adverse effect on our business.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings
We are subject to various legal actions that are ordinary and incidental to our business, including contract disputes, employment, workers’
compensation, product liability, regulatory and other matters. We establish reserves from time to time based upon periodic assessment of the potential
outcomes of pending matters. In addition, we believe that any potential liability arising from employment, product liability, workers’ compensation and
other personal injury litigation matters would be adequately covered by our insurance, subject to policy limits, applicable deductibles and insurer solvency.
While the outcome of legal actions cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe, based on current knowledge and the advice of counsel, that the outcome
of these currently pending matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Part II
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Owens & Minor, Inc.’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol OMI. As of February 16, 2021, there were 2,666
common shareholders of record. We believe there are an estimated additional 28,814 beneficial holders of our common stock. See Item 7, Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for a discussion of our dividend payments.
In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for
the repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2020, no shares were issued and $50.0
million of common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.
On October 6, 2020, we completed a follow-on equity offering wherein we sold an aggregate of 8,475,000 shares of our common stock at an
offering price of $20.50, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $165 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering,
including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the underwriting agreement, we granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an
additional 1,271,250 shares of our common stock, which the underwriters exercised in full. Inclusive of this exercised option, net proceeds to us were
approximately $190 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. We
used the proceeds from the follow-on equity offering to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020,
to repay $51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility.
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Not applicable.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist the reader in the understanding and
assessment of significant changes and trends related to our results of operations. The discussion and analysis presented below refers to, and should be read
in conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Overview
Owens & Minor, Inc., along with its subsidiaries, (we, us, our or the Company) is a leading global healthcare solutions company. On June 18,
2020 (the Divestiture Date), we completed the divestiture of our European logistics business, Movianto (the Divestiture), as well as certain support
functions in our Dublin, Ireland office, to Walden Group SAS (the Buyer) and EHDH (as Buyer’s guarantor) for cash consideration of $133 million. The
Divestiture provides us with a greater ability to focus on and invest in our differentiated products, services and U.S. distribution businesses. The net
proceeds were used to repurchase our 2021 Notes (see Note 10, “Debt”). We recorded a loss of $65.5 million in connection with the Divestiture for the year
ended December 31, 2020.
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As a result of the Divestiture, the results of operations from our Movianto business are reported as “Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax”
through the Divestiture Date and the related assets and liabilities were classified as “held- for-sale” in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2019. See Note 3, “Discontinued Operations,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information. Unless otherwise indicated, the
following information relates to continuing operations.
Income from continuing operations per diluted share was $1.39 for the year ended December 31, 2020, an increase of $1.76 compared to 2019.
Global Solutions segment operating income was $30.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $83.6 million for 2019. The decline was
due to lower distribution revenues as a result of customer non-renewals that occurred in 2019 and a reduction in elective surgical procedures primarily due
to the impact of COVID-19. Global Products segment operating income was $260 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $65.1
million for 2019. The increase was a result of higher revenues from greater market demand for personal protective equipment and favorable product mix
combined with continued operating efficiencies compared to 2019.
COVID-19 Update
We are closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of our business, including how it impacts our customers, teammates, suppliers,
vendors and distribution channels. We have taken actions to protect our teammates while maintaining business continuity as we respond to the needs from
this global pandemic. We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions that alter our business operations as may be required
by federal, state or local authorities or that we determine are in the best interests of our teammates, customers, suppliers and shareholders.
Revenue in 2020 of $8.5 billion includes a significant overall impact from COVID-19 related to the reduction of surgical procedures beginning in
mid-March, which was partially offset by a greater demand for PPE. Operating income also benefited from improved productivity and increased
manufacturing output related to PPE, favorable product mix and operating efficiencies. We have expanded our PPE production operations to 24 hours a
day, 7 days a week, and have taken measures to increase and improve our production such as retooling existing equipment, installing and optimizing new
production lines and ramping up our new non-woven fabric machinery. We have delivered over 12 billion units of PPE to healthcare workers in the fight
against COVID-19, of which approximately 5 billion units were produced with materials manufactured in our American factories or Owens & Minor
owned facilities, since January 2020. We expect that we will continue servicing our customers' needs related to the heightened demand for our PPE as a
result of various factors, including the implementation of new regulations and healthcare protocols calling for increased use of PPE, healthcare professional
preference for medical grade PPE, stockpile PPE demand and the creation of new channels for PPE demand in healthcare, non-healthcare and international
markets.
We are evaluating various government-sponsored COVID-response stimulus, relief, and production initiatives such as under the DPA and recent
CARES Act. In March 2020, under the DPA, we were awarded a contract with the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to produce N-95
respirator masks in an effort to replenish the Strategic National Stockpile. In April 2020, also under the DPA, the U.S. Department of Defense initiated a
technology investment agreement with us involving up to $30.0 million of anticipated funding of assets to expand capacity to supply N-95 respirator
masks. Through December 31, 2020, approximately $27.0 million had been expended and $20.8 million had been reimbursed in accordance with this
arrangement. In addition, as allowed under the CARES Act, we filed for $13.7 million and $17.6 million income tax refunds with the Internal Revenue
Service (IRS) related to the carryback of net operating losses (NOL) incurred in 2018 and 2019. As of December 31, 2020, we have received substantially
all of the refunds. In connection with these NOL carryback items, we recorded a $12.5 million income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2020.
We are unable to predict the timing of the pandemic and the full impact that COVID-19 will have on our future financial position and operating
results due to numerous variables and continued uncertainties. Although we have experienced growth in sales volumes for certain of our products (such as
PPE) during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as improved productivity and manufacturing output, there can be no assurance that such growth rates,
increased sales volumes or other improvements will be maintained during or following the COVID-19 pandemic. See Item 1A. Risk Factors — “We are
subject to risks related to public health crises or future outbreaks of health crises or other adverse public health developments such as the global pandemic
associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19).”
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Supplemental Financial Information
(in thousands, except ratios and per share data)
At or for the years ended December 31,
2020
2019

Summary of Operations:
Net revenue
Income (loss) from continuing operations

$
$

8,480,177
88,074

$
$

9,210,939
(22,584)

Per Common Share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations per share—basic and diluted
Cash dividends
Stock price at year end

$
$
$

1.39
0.01
27.05

$
$
$

(0.37)
0.01
5.17

Summary of Financial Position:
Total assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total debt
Total equity

$
$
$
$

3,335,639
83,058
1,025,967
712,054

$
$
$
$

3,643,084
67,030
1,559,652
462,154

Selected Ratios:
Gross margin as a percent of revenue
Distribution, selling and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue
Operating income as a percent of revenue
Days sales outstanding (DSO) (1)
Inventory days (2)

15.10 %
12.28 %
2.41 %
26.0
57.8

(1)

Based on year end accounts receivable and net revenue for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(2)

Based on year end merchandise inventories and cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

12.25 %
11.11 %
0.79 %
27.1
55.3

Results of Operations
2020 compared to 2019
Net revenue.
(Dollars in thousands)

Global Solutions
Global Products
Inter-segment
Net revenue

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
7,212,011 $
8,243,867
1,810,331
1,433,977
(542,165)
(466,905)
$
8,480,177 $
9,210,939

$

$

Change
$
(1,031,856)
376,354
(75,260)
(730,762)

%
(12.5)%
26.2 %
(16.1)%
(7.9)%

The change in net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 reflected the impact of lower distribution revenues as a result of customer nonrenewals that occurred in 2019 and a reduction in elective surgical procedures primarily due to the impact of COVID-19. These were partially offset by
revenue growth in Global Products from increased demand for PPE and growth in Byram, our Home Healthcare business. Foreign currency translation had
a $2.6 million favorable impact on net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the prior year.
Cost of goods sold.
(Dollars in thousands)

Cost of goods sold

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
7,199,343 $
8,082,448
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$

Change
$
(883,105)

%
(10.9)%

Cost of goods sold includes the cost of the product (net of supplier incentives and cash discounts) and all costs incurred for shipments of products
from manufacturers to our distribution centers for all customer arrangements where we are the primary obligor and bear risk of general and physical
inventory loss. These are sometimes referred to as distribution contracts. Cost of goods sold also includes direct and certain indirect labor, material and
overhead costs associated with our Global Products business. There is no cost of goods sold associated with our fee-for-service arrangements. Cost of
goods sold compared to prior year reflects changes in sales activity, including sales mix.
Gross margin.
(Dollars in thousands)

Gross margin

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
1,280,834
$
1,128,491

As a % of net revenue

15.10 %

Change
$
152,343

$

%
13.5 %

12.25 %

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2020 was impacted by improved sales mix and productivity, operating efficiencies in Global
Products and a favorable impact from foreign currency translation of $7.3 million.
We value distribution inventory held in the United States under the LIFO method. Had inventory been valued under the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method, gross margin as a percentage of net revenue would have been 19 basis points higher in 2020 and 9 basis points higher in 2019.
Operating expenses.
(Dollars in thousands)

Distribution, selling & administrative expenses

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
1,041,336
$
1,023,065

As a % of net revenue

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other operating (income) expense, net

12.28 %

$
$

37,752
(2,372)

Change
$

%

$

18,271

1.8 %

$
$

7,702
(4,597)

25.6 %
(206.6)%

11.11 %

$
$

30,050
2,225

Distribution, selling and administrative (DS&A) expenses include labor and warehousing costs associated with our distribution and outsourced
logistics services and all costs associated with our fee-for-service arrangements. Shipping and handling costs are primarily included in DS&A expenses and
include costs to store, move, and prepare products for shipment, as well as costs to deliver products to customers. Overall DS&A expenses were affected by
the revenue decline and change in mix and investments in the business, partially offset by operational efficiencies. DS&A expenses also included an
unfavorable impact for foreign currency translation of $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Acquisition-related charges were $11.8 million and $15.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and consisted primarily of
transition costs for the Halyard acquisition. Exit and realignment charges were $25.9 million and $14.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019. Amounts in 2020 were associated with severance from reduction in workforce, IT restructuring charges, post closing costs associated with the
Movianto divestiture, costs associated with the sale of certain assets of Fusion5 and other costs related to the reorganization of the U.S. commercial,
operations and executive teams. Amounts in 2019 were associated with severance from reduction in workforce and other costs related to the reorganization
of the U.S. commercial and operations and executive teams, along with facility closures in the U.S. and other IT restructuring charges.
The change in other operating (income) expense, net was attributed primarily to a gain on legal settlement and lower software as a service
implementation expenses due to the adoption of ASU No. 2018-15 as of January 1, 2020. See Note 1 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Interest expense, net.
(Dollars in thousands)

Interest expense, net

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
83,398
$
98,113

Effective interest rate

6.39 %
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6.36 %

$

Change
$
(14,715)

%
(15.0)%

Interest expense decreased year over year primarily due to a reduction in debt, which was partially offset by the amortization of additional deferred
financing costs as a result of the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement in February 2020. See Note 10 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
Other expense, net.

(Dollars in thousands)

Other expense, net

For the years ended December
31,
2020
2019
$
10,812 $
3,757

Change

$
$

%
187.8 %

7,055

Other expense, net in 2020 includes a make-whole premium related to the extinguishment of our 2021 Notes, the write-off of deferred financing
costs, third party fees incurred and interest cost and net actuarial losses related to the U.S. Retirement Plan, offset by a gain from the surrender of companyowned life insurance policies and gain on extinguishment of debt related to the partial repurchase of our 2021 and 2024 Notes. Other expense, net in 2019
includes interest cost and net actuarial losses related to the U.S. Retirement Plan, the write-off of deferred financing costs associated with the revolving
credit facility as a result of the Fourth Amendment to the Credit Agreement in February 2019, and a gain on extinguishment of debt related to the partial
repurchase of our 2021 Notes.
Income taxes.
(Dollars in thousands)

Income tax provision (benefit)

For the years ended December 31,
2020
2019
$
21,834
$
(6,135)

Effective tax rate

19.9 %

Change
$
$

27,969

%
455.9 %

21.4 %

The change in the effective tax rates compared to 2019 resulted primarily from income tax benefits recorded in 2020 associated with the CARES
Act and year over year changes in, and mixture of, income and losses in jurisdictions in which we operate. In addition, the provision for income taxes
reflects an increase in our reserve for uncertain tax positions for the year ended December 31, 2020 in connection with the IRS audit of our 2015 and 2016
consolidated income tax returns described in Note 14 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
Financial condition. We monitor operating working capital through days sales outstanding (DSO) and merchandise inventory days. We estimate
a hypothetical increase (decrease) in DSO of one day would result in a decrease (increase) in our cash balances, an increase (decrease) in borrowings
against our revolving credit facility, or a combination thereof of approximately $26 million.
The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash depository accounts with major banks in the United States, Europe, and Asia.
Changes in our working capital can vary in the normal course of business based upon the timing of inventory purchases, collection of accounts receivable,
and payments to suppliers.
December 31,
Change
(Dollars in thousands)
2020
2019
$
%
Cash and cash equivalents
$
83,058 $
67,030
$
16,028
23.9 %
Accounts receivable, net
$
700,792 $
674,706
$
26,086
3.9 %
Days sales outstanding (1)
26.0
27.1
Merchandise inventories
$
1,233,751 $
1,146,192
$
87,559
7.6 %
Inventory days (2)
57.8
55.3
Accounts payable
$
1,000,186 $
808,035
$
192,151
23.8 %
(1)

Based on year end accounts receivable and net revenue for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

(2)

Based on year end merchandise inventories and cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2020 and 2019

Liquidity and capital expenditures. The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows, which relates to continuing
operations and discontinued operations:
For the years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands)
2020
2019
Net cash provided by (used for):
Operating activities
$
339,223 $
166,085
Investing activities
80,073
(51,897)
Financing activities
(379,386)
(130,197)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
9,909
(2,671)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
$
49,819 $
(18,680)

Cash provided by operating activities in 2020 and 2019 reflected fluctuations in net income along with favorable changes in working capital.
Cash provided by investing activities in 2020 included cash consideration received of $133 million from the sale of Movianto, proceeds of $6.0
million from the surrender of company-owned life insurance policies, and capital expenditures of $59.2 million for our strategic and operational efficiency
initiatives associated with property and equipment, investments for increased manufacturing capacity in the Americas, and capitalized software. Cash used
for investing activities in 2019 included capital expenditures of $52.2 million for our strategic and operational efficiency initiatives associated with
property and equipment and capitalized software.
Cash used for financing activities in 2020 included dividend payments of $0.6 million and repayments of $74.7 million under our revolving credit
facility, compared to $5.2 million and $32.2 million, for the same period of 2019. We also had proceeds from borrowings in 2020 of $155 million related to
the Accounts Receivable Securitization Program and proceeds from the issuance of common stock in 2020 of $190 million related to our follow-on equity
offering. Financing activities also included repayments of $617 million in 2020, compared to $85.6 million in the same period of 2019, on our term loans
(under the Credit Agreement) and 2021 and 2024 Notes. We used $269 million of cash to repurchase $267 million aggregate principal amount of the 2021
and 2024 Notes during 2020, which included a $5.0 million make-whole premium paid to fully retire the 2021 Notes in November 2020. In 2019, we used
$36.2 million of cash to repurchase $37.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 2021 Notes. We also paid $10.4 million in financing costs related to the
Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement in 2020, as compared to $4.3 million in financing costs related to the Fourth Amendment to the Credit
Agreement in February 2019.
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Capital resources. Our sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents, a revolving credit facility under our Credit Agreement with Bank of
America, N.A, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and a syndicate of lenders (the Credit Agreement), and the Receivables
Securitization Program. The Credit Agreement provides a revolving borrowing capacity of $400 million. The interest rate on our revolving credit facility
and Term A Loans is based on 1) either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base Rate plus 2) an Applicable Percentage which varies depending on Consolidated
Total Leverage Ratio (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). Our interest rate on the revolving credit facility at December 31, 2020 was Eurocurrency
Rate plus 2.75%. Our Term B Loan accrues interest based on 1) either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base Rate plus 2) an Applicable Percentage of
3.50% per annum for Base Rate Loans and 4.50% per annum for Eurocurrency Rate Loans (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). Our interest rate on
the Term B Loan at December 31, 2020 was Eurocurrency Rate plus 4.50%. We are charged a commitment fee of between 12.5 and 25.0 basis points on the
unused portion of the revolving credit facility.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had borrowings of $103 million and $178 million, and letters of credit of $13.9 million and $11.7 million,
outstanding under the revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $283 million and $209 million, available for borrowing. The
December 31, 2019 availability reflected letters of credit associated with discontinued operations of $1.1 million. We also had letters of credit and bank
guarantees outstanding for $1.6 million and $1.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, which supports certain leased facilities as well as other normal
business activities in the United States and Europe. These letters of credit and guarantees were issued independent of the Credit Agreement.
We have a Security and Pledge Agreement (the Security Agreement) pursuant to which we granted collateral on behalf of the holders of the 2021
Notes and the holders of the 2024 Notes and the parties secured under the Credit Agreement (the Secured Parties) including first priority liens and security
interests in (a) all present and future shares of capital stock owned by the Credit Parties (as defined) in the Credit Parties’ present and future subsidiaries
and (b) all present and future personal property and assets of the Credit Parties, subject to certain exceptions. The Fifth Amendment to the Credit
Agreement included additional collateral requirements of the Credit Parties, including an obligation to pledge our owned U.S. real estate and the remaining
equity interests in foreign subsidiaries.
Our Credit Agreement has a “springing maturity date” with respect to the Term B Loan. If the outstanding balance of the 2024 Notes has not been
paid in full as of the date 91 days prior to the maturity date of the 2024 Notes, the Termination Date of the Term B Loan shall be the date that is 91 days
prior to the maturity date of the 2024 Notes. The revolving credit facility matures in July 2022 and the Term B Loan matures in April 2025.
On February 19, 2020, we entered into an accounts receivable securitization program (the Receivables Securitization Program). Pursuant to the
Receivables Securitization Program the aggregate principal amount of the loans made by the Lenders (as defined) will not exceed $325 million outstanding
at any time. The interest rate under the Receivables Securitization Program is based on a spread over the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
dependent on the tranche period thereto and any breakage fees accrued. Under the Receivables Securitization Program, certain of our subsidiaries sell
substantially all of their accounts receivable balances to our wholly owned special purpose entity, O&M Funding LLC. The Receivables Securitization
Program matures on February 17, 2023. In February 2020, we drew $150 million from the Receivables Securitization Program to repay portions of the
Term A Loans, consistent with the terms of the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement. The Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement requires that any
additional draws on the Receivables Securitization Program are restricted for use to repay the 2021 Notes or Term A Loans to the extent those instruments
are outstanding.The Credit Agreement, Receivables Securitization Program, and Senior Notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the
acceleration of payments due in the event of default of either agreement. The terms of the Credit Agreement also require us to maintain ratios for leverage
and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an acquisition or divestiture. We were in compliance with our debt covenants at
December 31, 2020.
Current maturities include $34.4 million of the remaining Term A-2 Loan principal balance, which was repaid in full on January 4, 2021,
scheduled principal payments within the next 12 months of $5.0 million for our Term B Loan, and $1.1 million in short-term finance leases.
In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for
the repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2020 no shares were issued and $50.0
million of common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.
On October 6, 2020, we completed a follow-on equity offering wherein we sold an aggregate of 8,475,000 shares of our common stock at an
offering price of $20.50, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $165 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering,
including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the
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underwriting agreement, we granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional 1,271,250 shares of our common stock, which the
underwriters exercised in full. Inclusive of this exercised option, net proceeds to us were approximately $190 million, after deducting expenses relating to
the follow-on equity offering, including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions.
We used the proceeds from the follow-on equity offering completed on October 6, 2020 to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance
of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020, to repay $51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of
borrowings under the revolving credit facility.
On November 30, 2020 (Redemption Date), we elected to redeem all of our outstanding 2021 Notes. As required by the Fourth Supplemental
Indenture, the redemption price included accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the Redemption Date, and a redemption premium of
$5.0 million, which reflected the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon (exclusive of interest
accrued to the Redemption Date) discounted to the Redemption Date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months)
at the Treasury Rate plus 25 basis points. Including the tender offer, we used $269 million of cash to repurchase $267 million aggregate principal amount of
the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes during 2020. We used $36.2 million of cash to repurchase $37.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 2021 Notes
during 2019.
We regularly evaluate market conditions, our liquidity profile and various financing alternatives to enhance our capital structure. From time to
time, we may enter into transactions to repay, repurchase or redeem our outstanding indebtedness (including by means of open market purchases, privately
negotiated repurchases, tender or exchange offers and/or repayments or redemptions pursuant to the debt’s terms). Our ability to consummate any such
transaction will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. We cannot provide any
assurance as to if or when we will consummate any such transactions or the terms of any such transaction.
In 2018, the fourth quarter dividend was accrued at December 31, 2018 and paid in January 2019. We paid cash dividends on our outstanding
common stock at the rate of $0.0025 per common share for each of the four quarters of 2020 and 2019. In February 2021, the Board of Directors approved
the first quarter dividend of $0.0025 per common share. The payment of future dividends remains within the discretion of the Board of Directors and will
depend upon our results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements, current and future limitations under our Credit Agreement (as amended)
and other factors.
We believe available financing sources, including cash generated by operating activities and borrowings under the Credit Agreement and
Receivables Securitization Program, will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, capital expenditures, long-term strategic growth, payments under
long-term debt and lease arrangements, payments of quarterly cash dividends, debt repurchases and other cash requirements. While we believe that we will
have the ability to meet our financing needs in the foreseeable future, changes in economic conditions may impact (i) the ability of financial institutions to
meet their contractual commitments to us, (ii) the ability of our customers and suppliers to meet their obligations to us or (iii) our cost of borrowing.
We earn a portion of our operating income in foreign jurisdictions outside the United States. Our cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign
subsidiaries totaled $72.0 million and $52.9 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019. We continue to remain permanently reinvested in our foreign
subsidiaries, with the exception of a subsidiary in Thailand. We have no specific plans to indefinitely reinvest the unremitted earnings of our foreign
subsidiary located in Thailand as of December 31, 2020. As such, we have recorded withholding tax liabilities that would be incurred upon future
distribution to the U.S. There are no unrecognized deferred taxes as there is no outside basis difference unrelated to unremitted earnings for Thailand. We
will continue to evaluate our foreign earnings repatriation policy in 2021 for all our foreign subsidiaries.
Guarantor and Collateral Group Summarized Financial Information
We are providing the following information in compliance with Rule 13-01, “Financial Disclosures about Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed
Securities” and Rule 13-02 of Regulation S-X, of with respect to our 2024 Notes. See Note 10 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
additional information regarding the terms of the 2024 Notes.
The following tables present summarized financial information for Owens & Minor, Inc. and the guarantors of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024 Notes
(together, "the Guarantor Group"), on a combined basis with intercompany balances and transactions between entities in the Guarantor Group eliminated.
The guarantor subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. Separate financial statements of the guarantor subsidiaries are not presented because
the guarantees by our guarantor subsidiaries are full and unconditional, as well as joint and several.
Summarized financial information of the Guarantor Group is as follows:
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Summarized Consolidated Statement of Operations - Guarantor Group

For the year ended
December 31, 2020
$
8,319,301
1,202,019
166,761
60,783
60,783

(Dollars in thousands)

Net revenue(1)
Gross margin
Operating income
Income from continuing operations, net of tax
Net income
(1)

Includes $190 million in sales to non-guarantor subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheet - Guarantor Group
(Dollars in thousands)

Total current assets
Intercompany receivable
Total assets
Current liabilities
Intercompany payable
Total liabilities

$

December 31, 2020
1,559,248
399,484
2,943,125
1,374,800
89,040
2,465,894

The following tables present summarized financial information for Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024
Notes pledged that constitute a substantial portion of collateral (together, "the Collateral Group"), on a combined basis with intercompany balances and
transactions between entities in the Collateral Group eliminated. The pledged subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. No trading market for
the subsidiaries included in the Collateral Group exists.
Summarized financial information of the Collateral Group is as follows:
Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheet - Collateral Group
(Dollars in thousands)

Total current assets
Intercompany receivable
Total assets
Current liabilities
Intercompany payable
Total liabilities

$

December 31, 2020
1,651,460
158,651
2,851,226
1,356,024
486,491
2,480,953

The results of operations of the Collateral Group are not materially different from the corresponding amounts presented in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have guarantees or other off-balance sheet financing arrangements, including variable interest entities, which we believe could have a
material impact on financial condition or liquidity.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles. The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and related
disclosures. We continually evaluate the accounting policies and estimates used to prepare the financial statements.
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Critical accounting policies are defined as those policies that relate to estimates that require us to make assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time the estimate is made and could have a material impact on our results due to changes in the estimate or the use of different assumptions
that could reasonably have been used. Our estimates are generally based on historical experience and various other assumptions that are judged to be
reasonable in light of the relevant facts and circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in such estimates, actual results may differ. We believe our
critical accounting policies and estimates include accounting for goodwill.
Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess of consideration paid over the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired. We evaluate goodwill for
impairment annually, as of October 1, and whenever events occur or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be
recoverable. Qualitative factors are first assessed to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value does not exceed the carrying amount, then a quantitative test is performed. The
quantitative goodwill impairment test uses valuation techniques to determine fair value, including comparable multiples of reporting unit's earnings before
interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) and discounted cash flows. The EBITDA multiples are based on an analysis of current enterprise
valuations and recent acquisition prices of similar companies, if available. Goodwill totaled $394.1 million at December 31, 2020.
The impairment review of goodwill requires the extensive use of accounting estimates and assumptions. The application of alternative
assumptions or inability to meet certain financial projections, could produce materially different results.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are subject to price risk for our raw materials, the most significant of which relates to the cost of polypropylene and nitrile used in the
manufacturing processes of our Global Products segment. Prices of the commodities underlying these raw materials are volatile and have fluctuated
significantly in recent years and in the future may contribute to fluctuations in our results of operations. The ability to hedge these commodity prices is
limited.
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency translation and transaction risks. Our business transactions outside of the
United States are denominated in the euro, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Thai baht and other currencies. We may use foreign currency forwards, swaps
and options, where possible, to manage our risk related to certain foreign currency fluctuations.
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates related to our borrowing under our Credit Agreement and Receivables Securitization
Program. However, we enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage our exposure to interest rate changes. We had $511 million in borrowings under
our term loans, $103 million in borrowings under our revolving credit facility, $153 million in borrowings under our Receivables Securitization Program,
and $13.9 million in letters of credit under the Credit Agreement at December 31, 2020. After considering the effects of interest rate swap agreements
outstanding as of December 31, 2020, we estimate an increase in interest rates of 100 basis points would result in a potential reduction in future pre-tax
earnings of approximately $4.8 million per year based on our borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2020.
Due to the nature and pricing of our Global Solutions segment distribution services, we are exposed to potential volatility in fuel prices. Our
strategies for helping to mitigate our exposure to changing domestic fuel prices has included using trucks with improved fuel efficiency. We benchmark our
domestic diesel fuel purchase prices against the U.S. Weekly Retail On-Highway Diesel Prices (benchmark) as quoted by the U.S. Energy Information
Administration. The benchmark averaged $2.55 per gallon for 2020, a decrease from $3.06 per gallon in 2019. Based on our fuel consumption in 2020, we
estimate that every 10 cents per gallon increase in the benchmark would reduce our Global Solutions segment operating income by approximately $0.2
million on an annualized basis.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation, with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end
of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2020.
There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our last fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2020, that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because
of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, controls deemed effective now may
become inadequate in the future because of changes in conditions, or because compliance with policies or procedures has deteriorated or been
circumvented.
Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria established in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Based on management’s assessment and the COSO criteria, management believes that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included in this annual report.

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka, President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

/s/ Andrew G. Long
Andrew G. Long, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Owens & Minor, Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements), and our
report dated February 24, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Richmond, Virginia
February 24, 2021
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Part III
Items 10-14.
Information required by Items 10-14 can be found under Corporate Officers at the end of the electronic filing of this Form 10-K and the
registrant’s 2021 Proxy Statement pursuant to instructions (1) and G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.
Because our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), our Chief Executive Officer is required to make, and he has made,
an annual certification to the NYSE stating that he was not aware of any violation of the corporate governance listing standards of the NYSE. Our Chief
Executive Officer made his annual certification to that effect to the NYSE as of May 28, 2020. In addition, we have filed, as exhibits to this Annual Report
on Form 10-K, the certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer required under Sections 906 and 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002 to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the quality of our public disclosure.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
Page

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
b) Exhibits:
See Index to Exhibits on page 66.
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35
36
37
38
64

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)
2020

Year ended December 31,

Net revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Distribution, selling and administrative expenses
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other operating (income) expense, net
Operating income
Interest expense, net
Other expense, net
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax provision (benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income (loss)

$

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share: basic and diluted
Loss from discontinued operations per common share: basic and diluted
Net income (loss) per common share: basic and diluted

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

33

$

2019

8,480,177 $
7,199,343
1,280,834
1,041,336
37,752
(2,372)
204,118
83,398
10,812
109,908
21,834
88,074
(58,203)
29,871 $

9,210,939
8,082,448
1,128,491
1,023,065
30,050
2,225
73,151
98,113
3,757
(28,719)
(6,135)
(22,584)
(39,787)
(62,371)

1.39 $
(0.92)
0.47 $

(0.37)
(0.66)
(1.03)

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)
2020

Year ended December 31,

Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Currency translation adjustments
Change in unrecognized net periodic pension costs (net of income tax benefit of $1,579 in 2020 and $2,299
in 2019)
Net unrealized loss on derivative instruments and other (net of income tax benefit of $3,180 in 2020 and
$3,305 in 2019)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

Comprehensive income (loss)

$
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2019

29,871

$

(62,371)

25,283

7,250

(3,756)

(6,545)

(7,329)
14,198
44,069 $

(7,800)
(7,095)
(69,466)

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)
2020

December 31,

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease assets
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Other assets, net

$

$
Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
$
Accrued payroll and related liabilities
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion
Deferred income taxes
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Equity
Common stock, par value $2 per share; authorized—200,000 shares; issued and outstanding— 73,472 shares
and 62,843 shares
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total equity
$
Total liabilities and equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2019

83,058
700,792
1,233,751
118,264
—
2,135,865
315,662
144,755
394,086
243,351
101,920
3,335,639

$

1,000,186
109,447
236,094
—
1,345,727
986,018
119,932
50,641
121,267
2,623,585

$

808,035
53,584
231,029
323,511
1,416,159
1,508,415
117,080
40,550
98,726
3,180,930

146,944
436,597
167,022
(38,509)
712,054
3,335,639 $

125,686
251,401
137,774
(52,707)
462,154
3,643,084

$

67,030
674,706
1,146,192
79,372
439,983
2,407,283
315,427
142,219
393,181
285,018
99,956
3,643,084

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
Year ended December 31,

2020

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Share-based compensation expense
Impairment charges
Loss on divestiture
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Provision for losses on accounts receivable
Changes in operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Merchandise inventories
Accounts payable
Net change in other assets and liabilities
Other, net
Cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Proceeds from divestiture
Additions to property and equipment
Additions to computer software
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Proceeds from cash surrender value of life insurance policies
Cash provided by (used for) investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of debt
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Repayments of revolving credit facility
Repayment of debt
Financing costs paid
Cash dividends paid
Senior Notes make-whole premium paid
Other, net
Cash used for financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes received, net of payments
Interest paid
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

2019

29,871

$

(62,371)

93,336
20,010
8,724
65,472
15,564
11,292
(1,676)

116,678
15,803
32,112
—
(17,402)
12,914
(2,599)

(34,818)
(85,154)
193,240
5,278
18,084
339,223

63,526
127,921
(235,631)
104,801
10,333
166,085

133,000
(50,424)
(8,769)
234
6,032
80,073

—
(42,419)
(9,809)
331
—
(51,897)

$

155,100
189,971
(74,700)
(617,271)
(10,367)
(648)
(4,980)
(16,491)
(379,386)
9,909
49,819
84,687
134,506 $

—
—
(32,200)
(85,592)
(4,313)
(5,226)
—
(2,866)
(130,197)
(2,671)
(18,680)
103,367
84,687

$
$

(17,455) $
89,961 $

(6,198)
95,413

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except per share data)

Common Shares
Outstanding

Balance, December 31, 2018
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Dividends declared ($0.01 per share)
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and
other
Balance, December 31, 2019
Net income
Other comprehensive income
Dividends declared ($0.01 per share)
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and
other
Balance, December 31, 2020

62,294

Common Stock
($2 par value)

$

124,588

Paid-In
Capital

$

238,773

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

$

200,670 $
(62,371)

(45,612) $
(7,095)

(525)
549
62,843

1,098
125,686

12,628
251,401

137,774
29,871

(52,707)
14,198

(623)
9,746
883
73,472

19,493
$

1,765
146,944

170,478
$

14,718
436,597

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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167,022

$

(38,509) $

Total Equity

518,419
(62,371)
(7,095)
(525)
13,726
462,154
29,871
14,198
(623)
189,971
16,483
712,054

OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except per share data, unless otherwise indicated)
Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (we, us, our or the Company), a Fortune 500 company headquartered in Richmond, Virginia, is a leading
global healthcare solutions company with integrated technologies, products and services aligned to deliver significant and sustained value for healthcare
providers and manufacturers across the continuum of care. Our teammates serve healthcare industry customers in over 70 countries, by producing quality
products and helping to reduce total costs across the healthcare supply chain by optimizing point-of care performance, freeing up capital and clinical
resources and managing contracts to optimize financial performance.
Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries it controls, in
conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Unless otherwise indicated, information in these notes to consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations.
Use of Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make assumptions and
estimates that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Estimates are used for, but are not limited to, the allowances for losses on accounts
receivable, inventory valuation allowances, supplier incentives, depreciation and amortization, goodwill valuation, valuation of intangible assets and other
long-lived assets, self-insurance liabilities, tax liabilities, defined benefit obligations, share-based compensation and other contingencies. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash include cash and marketable securities with an original
maturity or maturity at acquisition of three months or less. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are stated at cost. Nearly all of our cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash are held in cash depository accounts in major banks in the United States, Europe, and Asia. Cash that is held by a major
bank and has restrictions on its availability to us is classified as restricted cash. Restricted cash included in other current assets represents cash held in a
designated account as of December 31, 2020 as required by the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, which stipulates that the cash held within this
account is to be used to repay the 2021 Notes, which were fully repaid as of December 31, 2020, or the Term A Loans. Restricted cash included in Other
assets, net as of December 31, 2020 represents cash held in an escrow account as required by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) in
conjunction with the Bundled Payments for Care Improvement (BPCI) Advanced Program.
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets that sum to the total of those same amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.
December 31, 2020

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in Other current assets
Restricted cash included in Other assets, net
Cash of discontinued operations

$

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

83,058
35,126
16,322
—
134,506

December 31, 2019

$

$

67,030
—
16,261
1,396
84,687

Book overdrafts represent the amount of outstanding checks issued in excess of related bank balances and are included in accounts payable in our
consolidated balance sheets, as they are similar to trade payables and are not subject to finance charges or interest. Changes in book overdrafts are
classified as operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows.
Accounts Receivable, Net. In general, accounts receivable from customers are recorded at the invoiced amount and are reduced by any rebates due
to the customer, which are estimated based on contractual terms or historical experience. We assess finance charges on overdue accounts receivable that are
recognized as other operating income based on their estimated ultimate collectability. We have arrangements with certain customers under which they make
deposits on account. Customer deposits in excess of outstanding receivable balances are classified as other current liabilities. For our direct to patient
business, accounts receivable are recorded net of a contractual allowance.
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We maintain valuation allowances based upon the expected collectability of accounts receivable. Our allowances include specific amounts for
accounts that are likely to be uncollectible, such as customer bankruptcies and disputed amounts and general allowances for accounts that may become
uncollectible. Allowances are estimated based on a number of factors, including industry trends, current economic conditions, creditworthiness of
customers, age of the receivables, changes in customer payment patterns, and historical experience. Account balances are charged off against the allowance
after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.
Merchandise Inventories. Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost determined by the last-in, first-out (LIFO)
method for distribution inventories in the U.S. Cost of remaining inventories are determined using the first-in, first out (FIFO) or weighted-average cost
method.
Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization expense for
financial reporting purposes is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or, for capital leases and leasehold
improvements, over the term of the lease, if shorter. In general, the estimated useful lives for computing depreciation and amortization are three to 15 years
for machinery and equipment, five to 40 years for buildings, and up to 15 years for leasehold and land improvements. Straight-line and accelerated methods
of depreciation are used for income tax purposes. Normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, and renovations and betterments are
capitalized. We suspend depreciation and amortization on assets that are held for sale. In addition, we record capital-related government grants earned as
reductions to the cost of property and equipment; and associated unpaid liabilities and grant proceeds receivable are considered non-cash changes in such
balances for purposes of preparation of our consolidated statements of cash flows.
Leases. We enter into non-cancelable agreements to lease most of our office and warehouse facilities with remaining terms generally ranging from
one to 10 years. Certain leases include renewal options, generally for one to five-year increments. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole
discretion. We include options to renew (or terminate) in our lease term, and as part of our right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, when it is reasonably
certain that we will exercise that option. We also lease some of our transportation and material handling equipment for terms generally ranging from three
to 10 years. Leases with a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the balance sheet; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The depreciable life of right-of-use assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term, unless there is a
transfer of title or purchase option reasonably certain of exercise. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material
restrictive covenants.
Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of unpaid lease
payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Our incremental borrowing rate is estimated to approximate the
interest rate on a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments. We use the implicit rate when readily determinable. The right-of-use assets also
include adjustments for any lease payments made and lease incentives received.
Goodwill. We account for acquired businesses using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed be recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually, as of October 1, and whenever events occur or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying
amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Qualitative factors are first assessed to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value does not exceed the carrying amount, then a
quantitative test is performed. The quantitative goodwill impairment test involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to the
respective carrying amount.
We determine the estimated fair value of our reporting units by using an income (discounted cash flow analysis) approach. The income approach is
dependent upon several assumptions regarding future periods, including assumptions with respect to future sales growth and a terminal growth rate. In
addition, a weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is used to discount future estimated cash flows to their present values. The WACC is based on
externally observable data considering market participants’ cost of equity and debt, optimal capital structure and risk factors specific to our company.
Intangible Assets. Intangible assets acquired through purchases or business combinations are stated at fair value at the acquisition date and net of
accumulated amortization in the consolidated balance sheets. Intangible assets, consisting primarily of customer relationships, customer contracts, noncompetition agreements, trademarks, and tradenames are amortized over their estimated useful lives. In determining the useful life of an intangible asset,
we consider our historical experience in renewing or extending similar arrangements. Customer relationships are generally amortized over three to 15 years
and other
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intangible assets are amortized generally for periods between one and 15 years, based on their pattern of economic benefit or on a straight-line basis. We
suspend amortization on assets that are held for sale.
Computer Software. We develop and purchase software for internal use. Software development costs incurred during the application development
stage are capitalized. Once the software has been installed and tested, and is ready for use, additional costs incurred in connection with the software are
expensed as incurred. Capitalized computer software costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, usually between three and 10 years.
Capitalized computer software costs are included in other assets, net, in the consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized software at December 31, 2020 and
2019 was $38.0 million and $43.6 million. Depreciation and amortization expense includes $10.2 million and $9.3 million of software amortization for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Beginning in 2020, implementation costs incurred for a cloud computing arrangement that is considered a service contract (software as a service
or SaaS) are capitalized consistent with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. In 2019,
these costs were expensed as incurred.
Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, finite-lived intangible assets, right-of-use assets, and unamortized
software costs, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be
recoverable. We assess long-lived assets for potential impairment by comparing the carrying value of an asset, or group of related assets, to their estimated
undiscounted future cash flows. We suspend depreciation and amortization on assets that are held for sale.
Self-Insurance Liabilities. We are self-insured for certain employee healthcare, workers’ compensation and automobile liability costs; however,
we maintain insurance for individual losses exceeding certain limits. Liabilities are estimated for healthcare costs using current and historical claims data.
Liabilities for workers’ compensation and automobile liability claims are estimated using historical claims data and loss development factors. If the
underlying facts and circumstances of existing claims change or historical trends are not indicative of future trends, then we may be required to adjust the
liability and related expense accordingly. Self-insurance liabilities are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
Revenue Recognition. Our revenue is primarily generated from sales contracts with customers. Under most of our distribution and product sales
arrangements, our performance obligations are limited to delivery of products to a customer upon receipt of a purchase order. For these arrangements, we
recognize revenue at the point in time when shipment is completed, as control passes to the customer upon product receipt.
Revenue for activity-based fees and other services is recognized over time as activities are performed. Depending on the specific contractual
provisions and nature of the performance obligation, revenue from services may be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the service, on a
proportional performance model, based on level of effort, or when final deliverables have been provided.
Our contracts sometimes allow for forms of variable consideration including rebates, discounts and performance guarantees. In these cases, we
estimate the amount of consideration to which we will be entitled in exchange for transferring the product or service to the customer. Rebates and customer
discounts are estimated based on contractual terms or historical experience and we maintain an accrual for rebates or discounts that have been earned but
are unpaid. The amount accrued for rebates and discounts due to customers was $74.0 million at December 31, 2020 and $49.5 million at December 31,
2019.
Additionally, we generate fees from arrangements that include performance targets related to cost-saving initiatives for customers that result from
our supply-chain management services. Achievement against performance targets, measured in accordance with contractual terms, may result in additional
fees paid to us or, if performance targets are not achieved, we may be obligated to refund or reduce a portion of our fees or to provide credits toward future
purchases by the customer. For these arrangements, contingent revenue is deferred and recognized as the performance target is achieved and the applicable
contingency is released. When we determine that a loss is probable under a contract, the estimated loss is accrued. The amount deferred under these
arrangements is not material.
For our direct to patient sales, revenues are recorded based upon the estimated amounts due from patients and third-party payors. Third-party
payors include federal and state agencies (under Medicare and Medicaid programs), managed care health plans and commercial insurance companies.
Estimates of contractual allowances are based upon historical collection rates for the related payor agreements. The estimated reimbursement amounts are
made on a payor-specific basis and are recorded based on the best information available regarding management’s interpretation of the applicable laws,
regulations and reimbursement terms.
In most cases, we record revenue gross, as we are the primary obligor in the arrangement and we obtain control of the products before they are
transferred to the customer. When we act as an agent in a sales arrangement and do not bear a significant portion of inventory risks, primarily for our
outsourced logistics business, we record revenue net of product cost. Sales taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are
excluded from revenues.
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See Note 20 for disaggregation of revenue by segment and geography as we believe that best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.
Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold includes the cost of the product (net of supplier incentives and cash discounts) and all costs incurred for
shipments of products from manufacturers to our distribution centers for all customer arrangements where we are the primary obligor, bear the risk of
general and physical inventory loss and carry all credit risk associated with sales. Cost of goods sold also includes direct and certain indirect labor, material
and overhead costs associated with our Global Products business. We have contractual arrangements with certain suppliers that provide incentives,
including cash discounts for prompt payment, operational efficiency and performance-based incentives. These incentives are recognized as a reduction in
cost of goods sold as targets become probable of achievement.
In situations where we act as an agent in a sales arrangement and do not bear a significant portion of these risks, primarily for our outsourced
logistics business, there is no cost of goods sold and all costs to provide the service to the customer are recorded in distribution, selling and administrative
expenses.
As a result of different practices of categorizing costs and different business models throughout our industry, our gross margins may not
necessarily be comparable to other companies in our industry.
Distribution, Selling and Administrative (DS&A) Expenses. DS&A expenses include shipping and handling costs, labor, depreciation,
amortization and other costs for selling and administrative functions and all costs associated with our fee-for-service arrangements.
Shipping and Handling. Shipping and handling costs are primarily included in DS&A expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and
include costs to store, to move, and to prepare products for shipment, as well as costs to deliver products to customers. Shipping and handling costs totaled
$389 million and $422 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Share-Based Compensation. We account for share-based payments to teammates at fair value and recognize the related expense in distribution,
selling and administrative expenses over the service period for awards expected to vest.
Derivative Financial Instruments. We are directly and indirectly affected by changes in foreign currency and interest rates, which may adversely
impact our financial performance and are referred to as “market risks.” When deemed appropriate, we use derivatives as a risk management tool to mitigate
the potential impact of these market risks. We use forward contracts, which are agreements to buy or sell a quantity at a predetermined future date and at a
predetermined rate or price, and interest rate swaps. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
All derivatives are carried at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets. The designation of a derivative instrument as a hedge and its ability to
meet the hedge accounting criteria determine how we record the change in fair value of the derivative instrument in our financial statements. A derivative
qualifies for hedge accounting if, at inception, we expect the derivative will be highly effective in offsetting the underlying hedged cash flows and we fulfill
the hedge documentation standards at the time we enter into the derivative contract. We designate a hedge as a cash flow hedge, fair value hedge, or a net
investment hedge based on the exposure we are hedging. For the effective portion of qualifying cash flow hedges, we record changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”). We release the derivative’s gain or loss from OCI to match the timing of the underlying hedged items’ effect on earnings.
We review the effectiveness of our hedging instruments quarterly, recognize current period hedge ineffectiveness immediately in earnings, and discontinue
hedge accounting for any hedge that we no longer consider to be highly effective. We recognize changes in fair value for derivatives not designated as
hedges or those not qualifying for hedge accounting in current period earnings. The cash flow impacts of the derivative instruments are primarily included
in our consolidated statements of cash flows as a component of operating or financing activities.
Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases
and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income
in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax
rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are provided if it is more likely than not that a deferred
tax asset will not be realized. When we have claimed tax benefits that may be challenged by a tax authority, an estimate of the effect of these uncertain tax
positions is recorded. It is our policy to provide for uncertain tax positions and the related interest and penalties based upon an assessment of whether a tax
benefit is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. To the extent that the tax outcome of these uncertain tax positions
changes, based on our assessment, such changes in estimate may impact the income tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.
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We earn a portion of our operating income in foreign jurisdictions outside the United States. We continue to remain permanently reinvested in our
foreign subsidiaries, with the exception of a subsidiary in Thailand. We have no specific plans to indefinitely reinvest the unremitted earnings of our
foreign subsidiary located in Thailand as of December 31, 2020. As such, we have recorded withholding tax liabilities that would be incurred upon future
distribution to the U.S. There are no unrecognized deferred taxes as there is no outside basis difference unrelated to unremitted earnings for Thailand. We
will continue to evaluate our foreign earnings repatriation policy in 2021 for all our foreign subsidiaries. Our policy election for GILTI is that we will
record such taxes as a current period expense once incurred and will follow the tax law ordering approach.
Fair Value Measurements. Fair value is determined based on assumptions that a market participant would use in pricing an asset or liability. The
assumptions used are in accordance with a three-tier hierarchy, defined by GAAP, that draws a distinction between market participant assumptions based on
(i) observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets (Level 1), (ii) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either
directly or indirectly (Level 2) and (iii) unobservable inputs that require the use of present value and other valuation techniques in the determination of fair
value (Level 3).
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable reported in the consolidated balance sheets
approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of restricted cash also approximates fair value due to its
nature. The fair value of debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the identical liability when traded as an asset in an active
market (Level 1) or, if quoted market prices or dealer quotes are not available, on the borrowing rates currently available for loans with similar terms, credit
ratings, and average remaining maturities (Level 2). See Note 10 for the fair value of debt. The fair value of interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts is determined based on the present value of expected future cash flows considering the risks involved, including non-performance risk, and using
discount rates appropriate for the respective maturities. Observable Level 2 inputs are used to determine the present value of expected future cash flows.
See Note 13 for the fair value of derivatives.
Acquisition-Related and Exit and Realignment Charges. We present costs incurred in connection with acquisitions in acquisition-related and exit
and realignment charges in our consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition-related charges consist primarily of transaction costs incurred to perform
due diligence and to analyze, negotiate and consummate an acquisition, costs to perform post-closing activities to establish the organizational structure, and
costs to transition the acquired company’s information technology and other operations and administrative functions from the former owner.
Exit and realignment charges consist of costs associated with optimizing our operations which include the closure and consolidation of certain
distribution and outsourced logistics centers, administrative offices and warehouses, our client engagement center and IT restructuring charges. These
charges also include costs associated with the sale of certain assets of Fusion5, our strategic organizational realignment which include management
changes, certain professional fees, costs to streamline administrative functions and processes and divestiture related costs. Costs associated with exit and
realignment activities are recorded at their fair value when incurred. Liabilities are established at the cease-use date for remaining contractual obligations
discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of interest. We evaluate these assumptions quarterly and adjust the liability accordingly. The current portion
of contractual termination costs are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, and the non-current portion is included in other
liabilities, which were not material to our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Severance benefits are recorded when payment is
considered probable and reasonably estimable.
Income (Loss) Per Share. Basic and diluted income (loss) per share are calculated pursuant to the two-class method, under which unvested sharebased payment awards containing non-forfeitable rights to dividends are participating securities.
Foreign Currency Translation. Our foreign subsidiaries generally consider their local currency to be their functional currency. Assets and
liabilities of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates and revenues, cost of goods sold and expenses are
translated at average exchange rates during the period. Cumulative currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are long-term in nature and which we do not
intend to settle in the foreseeable future are also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses from
foreign currency transactions are recorded in other operating income, net in the consolidated statements of operations and were not material to our
consolidated results of operations in 2020 and 2019.
Discontinued Operations. The Movianto business represented a component that met accounting requirements to be classified as discontinued
operations through June 18, 2020 (the Divestiture Date) and held for sale as of December 31, 2019. In accordance with GAAP, the financial position and
results of operations of the Movianto business are presented as discontinued operations and, as such, have been excluded from continuing operations for all
periods presented. With the exception of Note 3, the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the continuing operations of Owens & Minor,
Inc. See Note 3 for additional information regarding discontinued operations.
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Contingent Consideration. Consideration for the sale of certain assets of Fusion5 included contingent earn-outs. The earn-outs were excluded
from the initial loss on the divestiture and will be recognized in income when realized and earned, consistent with the accounting guidance for gain
contingencies.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements. During 2020, we adopted Accounting Standard Updates (ASU’s) issued by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB).
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. This ASU modifies the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing the requirement to
disclose the amount and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy and the policy for timing of such transfers. This ASU
expands the disclosure requirements for Level 3 fair value measurements, primarily focused on changes in unrealized gains and losses included in other
comprehensive income (loss). We adopted ASU No. 2018-13 effective beginning January 1, 2020. Its adoption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-14, Compensation—Retirement Benefits—Defined Benefit Plans— General (Subtopic 715-20):
Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans. ASU 2018-14 removes disclosures that no longer are
considered cost beneficial, clarifies the specific requirements of disclosures and adds disclosure requirements identified as relevant for companies with
defined benefit retirement plans. The amendments in ASU No. 2018-14 are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2020 and its adoption did
not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Internal-Use Software. This standard aligns
the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for
capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. We adopted ASU No. 2018-15 effective beginning January 1, 2020.
Its adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-03, Codification Improvements to Financial Instruments. The standard is part of FASB’s ongoing
project to improve and clarify its Accounting Standards Codification and avoid unintended application. The items addressed are not expected to
significantly affect current practice or create a significant administrative cost for most entities. The amendment is divided into issues with different
effective dates as follows: The amendments related to Issue 1, Issue 2, Issue 4, and Issue 5 are conforming amendments. The amendments are effective
upon issuance of this update. The amendment related to Issue 3 is a conforming amendment that affects the guidance related to the amendments in ASU
No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. The effective
date of this update for the amendments to ASU No. 2016-01 is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those
fiscal years. We adopted ASU No. 2020-03 effective beginning January 1, 2020 for Issues 1 through 5. Its adoption did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting, which provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions
affected by reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. The amendments apply only to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions that
reference LIBOR or another reference rate expected to be discontinued because of reference rate reform. The amendments are effective for all entities as of
March 12, 2020 through December 31, 2022. At the present time, none of our lenders have requested that we transition away from LIBOR for our
borrowings that bear interest based on LIBOR and we will continue to evaluate the impact through transition.
In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-09, Debt (Topic 470), to amend and supersede SEC paragraphs in the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification to reflect the issuance of SEC Release No. 33-10762 related to financial disclosure requirements for subsidiary issuers and
guarantors of registered debt securities and affiliates whose securities are pledged as collateral for registered securities. This new guidance, issued under
new Rules 13-01 and 13-02, narrows the circumstances that require separate financial statements of subsidiary issuers and guarantors and affiliates whose
securities are pledged as collateral and streamlines the alternative disclosures required in lieu of those statements. This rule is effective January 4, 2021
with earlier adoption permitted. We adopted this new standard in the fourth quarter of 2020. Accordingly, summarized financial information has been
presented only for the issuer and guarantors of the our registered debt securities and affiliates whose securities are pledged as collateral for registered
securities for the most recent fiscal year, and the location of the required disclosures has been moved outside the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements and is provided in the “Guarantor and Collateral Group Summarized Financial Information” section of “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted as of December 31, 2020:
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In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which simplifies the accounting for
income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions within ASC 740, Income Taxes, and clarifies certain aspects of the current guidance to promote consistency
among reporting entities. ASU No. 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Most amendments within the standard are
required to be applied on a prospective basis, while certain amendments must be applied on a retrospective or modified retrospective basis. We do not
expect this to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-10, Codification Improvements, to improve consistency by amending the FASB Accounting
Standards Codification (the Codification) to include all disclosure guidance in the appropriate disclosure sections. This ASU also clarifies application of
various provisions in the Codification by amending and adding new headings, cross referencing to other guidance, and refining or correcting terminology.
The amendments in this ASU do not change GAAP and, therefore, are not expected to result in a significant change in practice. The amendments of this
ASU are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020. Early application of the amendments in this ASU is permitted. The amendments
in this ASU should be applied retrospectively. We do not expect this to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Note 2—Significant Risks and Uncertainties
Many of our hospital customers in the U.S. are represented by group purchasing organizations (GPOs) that contract with us for services on behalf
of the GPO members. GPOs representing a significant portion of our business are Vizient, Premier, Inc. (Premier) and Health Trust Purchasing Group
(HPG). Members of these GPOs have incentives to purchase from their primary selected distributor; however, they operate independently and are free to
negotiate directly with distributors and manufacturers. For 2020, net revenue from hospitals under contract with these GPOs represented the following
approximate percentages of our net revenue annually: Vizient—36%; Premier—21%; and HPG—15%.
In 2020 and 2019, no sales of products of any individual suppliers exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue.
Note 3—Discontinued Operations
On June 18, 2020, we completed the divestiture of our European logistics business, Movianto (the Divestiture), as well as certain support
functions in our Dublin office, to Walden Group SAS (the Buyer) and EHDH (as Buyer’s guarantor) for cash consideration of $133 million. We concluded
that the Movianto business met the criteria for discontinued operations as of December 31, 2019 and through the Divestiture Date, as the intention to sell
represented a strategic shift and the criteria for held-for-sale were met. Movianto was previously reported in the Global Solutions segment.
Accordingly, the results of operations from the Movianto business were reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related assets and liabilities were classified as heldfor-sale as of December 31, 2019 in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. We are working with the Buyer on a final working capital adjustment
that could result in a benefit in an amount up to $41.5 million. There is no benefit of any such adjustment reflected in our consolidated financial statements
as of December 31, 2020.
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The following table summarizes the financial results of our discontinued operations:
Year ended December 31,

2020

Net revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Distribution, selling, and administrative expenses
Asset impairment charges
Loss on divestiture
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other operating income, net
Operating loss
Interest expense, net
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income tax provision from discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes

$

$

226,759 $
53,923
172,836
157,512
—
65,472
4,825
(388)
(54,585)
3,144
(57,729)
474
(58,203) $

2019

439,104
106,896
332,208
330,737
32,112
—
2,856
(1,325)
(32,172)
6,752
(38,924)
863
(39,787)

We suspended depreciation and amortization on assets that are held-for-sale, including right-of-use assets recorded in accordance with ASU No.
2016-02, for the year ended December 31, 2020.
All revenue and expense included in discontinued operations during the year ended December 31, 2020 relates to activity through the Divestiture
Date. No revenue or expense have been recorded in discontinued operations related to the disposal group subsequent to the Divestiture Date.
We have entered into transition services agreements with a subsidiary of the Buyer, pursuant to which we and a subsidiary of the Buyer will
provide to each other various transitional services. Certain transition service arrangement costs and reimbursements were recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2020. These amounts were immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2020.
We had no assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued Movianto business reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as of December
31, 2020. The assets and liabilities of the discontinued Movianto business reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 were as
follows:
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December 31, 2019

Assets of discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Property and equipment, net
Intangible assets, net
Other assets, net
Operating lease assets
Valuation allowance on disposal group classified as held-for-sale

$

Total assets of discontinued operations
Liabilities of discontinued operations
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion
Other liabilities

$

Total liabilities of discontinued operations

$

1,396
78,643
16,058
188,853
284,950
65,710
6,579
27,431
87,425
(32,112)
439,983

$

53,981
182,980
236,961
5,523
76,270
4,757
323,511

Assets and liabilities held-for-sale as of December 31, 2019 were classified as current since we expected the Divestiture to be completed within
one year of the balance sheet date.
The following table provides operating and investing cash flow information for our discontinued operations:
Year ended December 31,

2020

Operating Activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Asset impairment charges
Loss on divestiture
Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures

$

—
—
65,472
(3,027)

2019

$

17,111
32,112
—
(18,952)

Note 4—Accounts Receivable, Net
Allowances for losses on accounts receivable of $19.1 million and $21.0 million have been applied as reductions of accounts receivable at
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Note 5—Merchandise Inventories
At December 31, 2020 and 2019 we had inventory of $1.2 billion and $1.1 billion, of which $807 million and $867 million were valued under
LIFO. If LIFO inventories had been valued on a current cost or FIFO basis, they would have been greater by $170 million and $155 million as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, included in our inventory was $66.7 million and $37.4 million in raw materials,
$59.2 million and $61.8 million in work in process and the remainder was finished goods.
Note 6—Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net, consists of the following:
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December 31,

2020

Land and land improvements
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress
Property and equipment, gross
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$

2019

22,292 $
155,576
377,225
44,695
599,788
(284,126)
315,662 $

$

22,269
156,184
371,324
11,368
561,145
(245,718)
315,427

Depreciation expense for property and equipment and assets under finance leases was $41.5 million and $43.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Note 7—Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net
As of October 1, 2020, we performed our annual impairment test and concluded that there were no impairments of goodwill.
The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill through December 31, 2020:
Global Solutions

Carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2018
Accumulated goodwill impairment, December 31, 2018
Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2018
Currency translation adjustments
Measurement period acquisition adjustments
Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2019
Currency translation adjustments

$

Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2020

$

Global Products

464,080
(180,175)
283,905
—
—
283,905
—
283,905

$

$

Consolidated

347,678
(217,461)
130,217
2,936
(23,877)
109,276
905
110,181

$

$

811,758
(397,636)
414,122
2,936
(23,877)
393,181
905
394,086

Intangible assets at December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
2020
Customer
Relationships

Gross intangible assets
Accumulated amortization
Net intangible assets
Weighted average useful life

$
$

270,505 $
(121,209)
149,296 $
10 years

Tradenames

90,000 $
(24,881)
65,119 $
11 years

2019
Other
Intangibles

43,245 $
(14,309)
28,936 $
8 years

Customer
Relationships

Tradenames

Other
Intangibles

270,693 $
(92,947)
177,746 $

90,000 $
(16,520)
73,480 $

43,055
(9,263)
33,792

10 years

11 years

8 years

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, $63.2 million and $80.7 million in net intangible assets were held in the Global Solutions segment and $180
million and $204 million were held in the Global Products segment. Amortization expense for intangible assets was $41.5 million for 2020 and $44.0
million for 2019.
Based on the current carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization, estimated amortization expense is $39.8 million for 2021, $38.9
million for 2022, $38.7 million for 2023, $33.9 million for 2024, and $28.2 million for 2025.
Note 8—Leases
We adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), as of January 1, 2019. We elected to use the adoption date as our date of initial application and
thus have not restated comparative prior periods. We elected the ‘package of practical expedients’, which permits us not to reassess our prior conclusions
about lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs under the new standard. We did not elect the use-of-hindsight or the practical expedient
pertaining to land easements; the latter not being applicable to us.
The new standard also provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. We elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for
all leases that qualify. This means, for those leases that qualify, we will not recognize right-of-
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use assets or lease liabilities, and this includes not recognizing right-of-use assets or lease liabilities for existing short-term leases of those assets in
transition. We also elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for all of our leases.
The adoption of the new standard resulted in the recording of operating lease assets and lease liabilities of approximately $197 million and $201
million as of January 1, 2019. The standard did not materially impact our consolidated net income (loss) and had no impact on cash flows.
The components of lease expense were as follows:
Years ended December 31,
2020
2019

Classification

Operating lease cost
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of lease assets
Interest on lease liabilities
Total finance lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost
Total lease cost

DS&A Expenses

$

53,675 $

53,588

$

963
1,283
2,246
1,081
15,611
72,613 $

1,322
1,189
2,511
348
16,415
72,862

DS&A Expenses
Interest expense, net
DS&A Expenses
DS&A Expenses

Variable lease cost consists primarily of taxes, insurance, and common area or other maintenance costs for our leased facilities which are paid as
incurred.
Supplemental balance sheet information is as follows:
As of December 31,
2020
2019

Classification

Assets:
Operating lease assets
Finance lease assets
Total lease assets
Liabilities:
Current
Operating
Finance
Noncurrent
Operating
Finance
Total lease liabilities

Operating lease assets
Property and equipment, net

$
$

Other current liabilities
Other current liabilities

$

Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion
Long-term debt, excluding current portion
$

144,755 $
7,222
151,977 $

142,219
7,948
150,167

33,412 $
1,085

31,568
1,014

119,932
10,124
164,553 $

117,080
11,692
161,354

The gross value recorded under finance leases was $17.4 million and $15.9 million with associated accumulated depreciation of $10.2 million and
$8.0 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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Other information related to leases was as follows:
Years ended December 31,
2020
2019

Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating and finance leases
Financing cash flows from finance leases

$
$

54,541
879

$
$

54,300
1,205

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating and finance lease liabilities

$

41,616

$

33,933

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases
Finance leases
Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases
Finance leases

5.2
7.9

5.1
8.8

11.8 %
12.3 %

11.9 %
9.7 %

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 were as follows:
Operating Leases

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: Interest

$

Present value of lease liabilities

$

47,930
42,382
34,053
26,964
18,348
41,101
210,778
(57,434)
153,344

Finance Leases

$

$

Total

2,077
2,008
1,961
1,919
1,916
6,492
16,373
(5,164)
11,209

$

50,007
44,390
36,014
28,883
20,264
47,593
227,151
(62,598)
164,553

$

Note 9—Exit and Realignment Costs
We periodically incur exit and realignment and other charges associated with optimizing our operations which includes the consolidation of certain
distribution and outsourced logistics centers, administrative offices and warehouses, our client
engagement center and IT restructuring charges. These charges also include costs associated with the sale of certain assets of Fusion5, our strategic
organizational realignment which include management changes, certain professional fees, costs to streamline administrative functions and processes and
divestiture related costs.
Exit and realignment charges by segment for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Year ended December 31,

2020

Global Solutions
Global Products

$

Total exit and realignment charges

$
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22,093
3,839
25,932

2019

$
$

9,133
5,264
14,397

The following table summarizes the activity related to exit and realignment cost accruals through December 31, 2020:
Total

Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2018
Provision for exit and realignment activities:
Severance
Information system restructuring costs
Other
Cash payments
Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2019
Provision for exit and realignment activities:
Severance
Information system restructuring costs
Lease obligations
Other
Cash payments
Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2020

$

7,477
6,008
2,531
5,858
(13,712)
8,162

$

5,623
2,119
1,051
6,519
(20,328)
3,146

In addition to the exit and realignment accruals in the preceding table, we also incurred $10.6 million of costs that were expensed as incurred for
the year ended December 31, 2020, including $4.9 million in impairment charges related to our client engagement center right-of-use asset, $3.7 million in
loss on the sale of certain Fusion5 assets and $2.0 million in other asset charges.
We do not expect material additional costs in 2021 for activities that were initiated through December 31, 2020.
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges presented in our consolidated statements of operations includes acquisition-related charges of
$11.8 million and $15.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, and consisted primarily of transition costs for the Halyard acquisition.
Note 10—Debt
Debt consists of the following:
2020
Carrying
Amount

December 31,

3.875% Senior Notes
4.375% Senior Notes, due December 2024
Term Loan A-1
Term Loan A-2
Term Loan B
Revolver
Receivable Securitization
Finance leases and other
Total debt
Less current maturities
Long-term debt

$

$

— $
244,780
—
33,865
477,525
103,200
152,929
13,668
1,025,967
(39,949)
986,018 $

2019
Estimated
Fair Value

— $
253,241
—
34,390
486,614
103,200
155,100
13,668
1,046,213
(40,453)
1,005,760 $

Carrying
Amount

236,234 $
273,978
206,521
170,899
480,337
177,900
—
13,783
1,559,652
(51,237)
1,508,415 $

Estimated
Fair Value

229,356
212,086
209,375
173,675
442,217
177,900
—
13,783
1,458,392
(51,237)
1,407,155

We have $245 million, net of debt issuance costs and deferred fees, of 4.375% senior notes due in 2024 (the 2024 Notes), with interest payable
semi-annually. The 3.875% Senior Notes (2021 Notes), which were fully repaid as of December 31, 2020, were sold at 99.5% of the principal amount with
an effective yield of 3.951%. The 2024 Notes were sold at 99.6% of the principal amount with an effective yield of 4.422%. We have the option to redeem
the 2024 Notes in part or in whole prior
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to maturity at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments discounted
at the Treasury Rate plus 30 basis points.
In June 2020, we announced cash tender offers for up to $240 million aggregate principal amount of our outstanding 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes.
As of the Early Settlement Date of June 22, 2020, $54.1 million of the 2021 Notes and $29.0 million of the 2024 Notes were repaid. On the Early
Settlement Date, the 2021 Notes were redeemed at 100% of par, and the 2024 Notes were redeemed at 90% of par, resulting in a net gain on
extinguishment of debt of $2.9 million. The tender offers remained open through July 2, 2020, and an additional $0.1 million of the 2021 Notes were
redeemed at the Base Consideration price of 95% of par by the time the offers closed. Consistent with the terms of the Fifth Amendment to the Credit
Agreement, we used $54.1 million of the proceeds from the sale of Movianto to fund the repayment of the 2021 Notes, which were retired in the second
quarter as part of the tender offer. As required by the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, the remaining $78.9 million of proceeds from the sale of
Movianto were placed in a designated account pending their application to either the outstanding 2021 Notes or Term A Loans within 210 days of the
Divestiture Date. On November 30, 2020 (Redemption Date), we elected to redeem all of our outstanding 2021 Notes. As required by the Fourth
Supplemental Indenture, the redemption price included accrued and unpaid interest to, but not including, the Redemption Date, and a redemption premium
of $5.0 million, which reflected the sum of the present values of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest thereon (exclusive of interest
accrued to the Redemption Date) discounted to the Redemption Date on a semi-annual basis (assuming a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months)
at the Treasury Rate plus 25 basis points. Including the tender offer, we used $269 million of cash to repurchase $267 million aggregate principal amount of
the 2021 Notes and 2024 Notes during 2020. We used $36.2 million of cash to repurchase $37.3 million aggregate principal amount of the 2021 Notes
during 2019.
We have a Credit Agreement (last amended February 13, 2020) with a $400 million revolving credit facility and $511 million in outstanding term
loans. The interest rate on our revolving credit facility and Term A Loans is based on 1) either the Eurocurrency Rate or the Base Rate plus 2) an
Applicable Percentage which varies depending on Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). Our interest rate on the
revolving credit facility at December 31, 2020 was Eurocurrency Rate plus 2.75%. Our Term B Loan accrues interest based on 1) either the Eurocurrency
Rate or the Base Rate plus 2) an Applicable Percentage of 3.50% per annum for Base Rate Loans and 4.50% per annum for Eurocurrency Rate Loans (each
as defined in the Credit Agreement). Our interest rate on the Term B Loan at December 31, 2020 was Eurocurrency Rate plus 4.50%. We are charged a
commitment fee of between 12.5 and 25.0 basis points on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility. Our Credit Agreement has a “springing
maturity date” with respect to the Term B Loan. If the outstanding balance of the 2024 Notes has not been paid in full as of the date 91 days prior to the
maturity date of the 2024 Notes, the Termination Date of the Term B Loan shall be the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity date of the 2024 Notes. The
revolving credit facility matures in July 2022 and the Term B Loan matures in April 2025.
We used the proceeds from the follow-on equity offering completed on October 6, 2020 to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance
of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020, to repay $51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of
borrowings under the revolving credit facility. See Note 16 for additional information regarding the follow-on equity offering.
At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had borrowings of $103 million and $178 million and letters of credit of $13.9 million and $11.7 million
outstanding under the revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had $283 million and $209 million available for borrowing. There were
no letters of credit associated with discontinued operations as of December 31, 2020. The December 31, 2019 availability reflected letters of credit
associated with discontinued operations of $1.1 million. We also had letters of credit and bank guarantees outstanding for $1.6 million and $1.5 million as
of December 31, 2020 and 2019, which supports certain leased facilities as well as other normal business activities in the United States and Europe. These
letters of credit and guarantees were issued independent of the Credit Agreement.
We have a Security and Pledge Agreement (the Security Agreement) pursuant to which we granted collateral on behalf of the holders of the 2021
Notes and the holders of the 2024 Notes and the parties secured under the Credit Agreement (the Secured Parties) including first priority liens and security
interests in (a) all present and future shares of capital stock owned by the Credit Parties (as defined) in the Credit Parties’ present and future subsidiaries
and (b) all present and future personal property and assets of the Credit Parties, subject to certain exceptions. The Fifth Amendment to the Credit
Agreement included additional collateral requirements of the Credit Parties, including an obligation to pledge our owned U.S. real estate and the remaining
equity interests in foreign subsidiaries.
On February 19, 2020, we entered into an accounts receivable securitization program (the Receivables Securitization Program). Pursuant to the
Receivables Securitization Program the aggregate principal amount of the loans made by the Lenders (as defined) will not exceed $325 million outstanding
at any time. The interest rate under the Receivables Securitization Program is based on a spread over the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)
dependent on the tranche period thereto and any breakage fees accrued. Under the Receivables Securitization Program, certain of our subsidiaries sell
substantially all of their accounts receivable balances to our wholly owned special purpose entity, O&M Funding LLC. The Receivables
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Securitization Program matures on February 17, 2023. In February 2020, we drew $150 million from the Receivables Securitization Program to repay
portions of the Term A Loans, consistent with the terms of the Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement. The Fifth Amendment to the Credit Agreement
requires that any additional draws on the Receivables Securitization Program are restricted for use to repay the 2021 Notes or Term A Loans to the extent
those instruments are outstanding.
The Credit Agreement, Receivables Securitization Program, and Senior Notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the
acceleration of payments due in the event of default of either agreement. The terms of the Credit Agreement also require us to maintain ratios for leverage
and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an acquisition or divestiture. We were in compliance with our debt covenants at
December 31, 2020.
As of December 31, 2020, scheduled future principal payments of debt were $24.7 million in 2021, $123 million in 2022, $160 million in
2023, $251 million in 2024, and $469 million in 2025. Maturities in 2021 and 2022 include $19.7 million and $14.7 million related to the Term A-2 Loans,
which were fully repaid on January 4, 2021.
Note 11—Share-Based Compensation
We maintain a share-based compensation plan (the Plan) that is administered by the Compensation and Benefits Committee of the Board of
Directors. The Plan allows us to award or grant to officers, directors and employees incentive, non-qualified and deferred compensation stock options,
stock appreciation rights (SARs), performance shares, and restricted and unrestricted stock. We use authorized and unissued common shares for grants of
restricted stock or for stock option exercises. At December 31, 2020, approximately 4.2 million common shares were available for issuance under the Plan.
Restricted stock awarded under the Plan generally vests over one, three or five years. Certain restricted stock grants contain accelerated vesting
provisions, based on the satisfaction of certain performance criteria related to the achievement of certain financial and operational results. Performance
shares awarded under the Plan are issuable as restricted stock upon meeting performance goals and generally have a total performance and vesting period
of three years. Stock options awarded under the Plan are generally subject to graded vesting over three years and expire seven to ten years from the date of
grant. The options are granted at a price equal to fair market value at the date of grant. We did not grant any stock options in 2020 or 2019.
We recognize the fair value of stock-based compensation awards, which is based upon the market price of the underlying common stock at the
grant date, on a straight-line basis over the estimated requisite service period, which may be based on a service condition, a performance condition, a
market condition, or any combination of these. The fair value of performance shares as of the date of grant is estimated assuming that performance goals
will be achieved at target levels. If such goals are not probable of being met, or are probable of being met at different levels, recognized compensation cost
is adjusted to reflect the change in estimated fair value of restricted stock to be issued at the end of the performance period.
Total share-based compensation expense for December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $19.7 million and $15.2 million with recognized tax benefits of
$5.1 million and $4.0 million. Unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock awards, net of estimated forfeitures, was $25.3 million
at December 31, 2020. This amount is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.9 years, based on the maximum remaining vesting
period required under the awards. Unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested performance share awards as of December 31, 2020 was $9.7
million and will be recognized primarily in 2021 if the related performance targets are met.
The following table summarizes the activity and value of nonvested restricted stock and performance share awards for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019:
2020

Number of
Shares

Nonvested awards at beginning of year
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested awards at end of year

4,515 $
2,289
(1,487)
(501)
4,816
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2019
Weighted
Average
Grant-date
Value
Per Share

9.69
7.29
11.94
7.69
7.64

Number of
Shares

2,585 $
3,624
(729)
(965)
4,515

Weighted
Average
Grant-date
Value
Per Share

19.94
5.29
18.90
11.86
9.69

The total fair value of restricted stock vesting during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $17.8 million and $13.8 million.
Note 12—Retirement Plans
Savings and Retirement Plans. We maintain a voluntary 401(k) savings and retirement plan covering substantially all full-time and certain parttime teammates in the United States who have completed one month of service and have attained age 18. We match a certain percentage of each
teammates’ contribution. The plan also provides for a discretionary contribution by us to the plan for all eligible teammates, subject to certain limits, and
discretionary profit-sharing contributions. We may increase or decrease our contributions at our discretion, on a prospective basis. We incurred $21.6
million and $10.5 million of expense related to this plan in 2020 and 2019. We also maintain defined contribution plans in some countries outside of the
United States in which we operate. Expenses related to these plans were not material in 2020 and 2019.
U.S. Retirement Plans. We have a noncontributory, unfunded retirement plan for certain retirees in the United States (U.S. Retirement Plan). In
February 2012, our Board of Directors amended the U.S. Retirement Plan to freeze benefit levels and modify vesting provisions under the plan effective as
of March 31, 2012.
The following table sets forth the U.S. Retirement Plan’s financial status and the amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:
2020

December 31,

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year
Interest cost
Actuarial loss
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation, end of year

$

53,602
1,420
6,632
(4,270)
57,384

$

$

$

—
4,270
(4,270)
—

$

—
3,494
(3,494)
—

$

(57,384)

$

(53,602)

$

$

$

(3,933)
(53,451)
25,492
(31,892)

$

(3,929)
(49,672)
19,732
(33,869)

$

57,384

$

53,602

$

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year
Employer contribution
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets, end of year

$

Funded status, end of year
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
Other current liabilities
Other liabilities
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Net amount recognized
Accumulated benefit obligation
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation
Discount rate
Rate of increase in compensation levels

2019

1.95 %
N/A

$

48,163
1,858
7,075
(3,494)
53,602

2.75 %
N/A

Plan benefit obligations of the U.S. Retirement Plan were measured as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. Plan benefit obligations are determined
using assumptions developed at the measurement date. The weighted average discount rate, which is used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities, is
an estimate of the interest rate at which the plan liabilities could be effectively settled at the measurement date. When estimating the discount rate, we
review yields available on high-quality, fixed-income debt instruments and use a yield curve model from which the discount rate is derived by applying the
projected benefit payments under the plan to points on a published yield curve.
The components of net periodic benefit cost for the U.S. Retirement Plan were as follows:
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2020

Year ended December 31,

Interest cost
Recognized net actuarial loss
Net periodic benefit cost

$
$

2019

1,420
872
2,292

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate
Rate of increase in future compensation levels

$
$

1,858
1,065
2,923

2.75 %
N/A

4.00 %
N/A

Amounts recognized for the U.S. Retirement Plan as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of the end of the year that have not
been recognized as a component of the net periodic benefit cost are presented in the following table. We expect to recognize approximately $1.2 million of
the net actuarial loss reported in the following table as of December 31, 2020, as a component of net periodic benefit cost during 2021.
2020

Year ended December 31,

Net actuarial loss
Deferred tax benefit
Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

$
$

2019

(25,492) $
9,552
(15,940) $

(19,732)
7,866
(11,866)

As of December 31, 2020, the expected benefit payments required for each of the next five years and the five-year period thereafter for the U.S.
Retirement Plan were as follows:
Year

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030

$

3,914
3,794
3,674
3,545
3,417
14,962

International Retirement Plans. Certain of our foreign subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their
respective teammates. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the accumulated benefit obligation under these plans was $11.5 million and $7.3 million. We
recorded $2.3 million and $1.0 million in net periodic benefit cost in Other expense, net for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
Note 13—Derivatives
We are directly and indirectly affected by changes in foreign currency and interest rates, which may adversely impact our financial performance
and are referred to as “market risks.” When deemed appropriate, we use derivatives as a risk management tool to mitigate the potential impact of certain
market risks. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
We enter into foreign currency contracts to manage our foreign exchange exposure related to certain balance sheet items that do not meet the
requirements for hedge accounting. These derivative instruments are adjusted to fair value at the end of each period through earnings. The gain or loss
recorded on these instruments is substantially offset by the remeasurement adjustment on the foreign currency denominated asset or liability.
We pay interest under our Credit Agreement and Receivables Securitization Program which fluctuate based on changes in our benchmark interest
rates. In order to mitigate the risk of increases in benchmark rates, from time to time we enter into interest rate swaps whereby we agree to exchange with
the counterparty, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable amounts calculated by reference to the notional amount. The interest rate
swaps were designated as cash flow hedges. Cash flows related to the interest rate swap agreements are included in interest expense.
We determine the fair value of our foreign currency derivatives and our interest rate swaps based on observable market-based inputs or
unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. We do not view the fair value of our derivatives in isolation, but rather in relation to the fair
values or cash flows of the underlying exposure. All derivatives are carried at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets in other assets, net and other
liabilities. We consider the risk of
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counterparty default to be minimal. We report cash flows from our hedging instruments in the same cash flow statement category as the hedged items.
The following table summarizes the terms and fair value of our outstanding derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2020:
Derivative Assets
Notional
Amount

Maturity Date

Classification

Derivative Liabilities

Fair Value

Fair Value

Classification

Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps

$

300,000

May 2022 and May
2025

Other assets, net

$

—

Other liabilities

$

17,872

$

30,300

January 2021

Other current
assets

$

151

Other current
liabilities

$

—

Economic (non-designated) hedges
Foreign currency contracts

We terminated $150 million in notional value of interest rate swaps on September 30, 2020. The remaining December 31, 2020 balance of the fair
value adjustments of $10.1 million, which related to these terminated interest rate swaps within accumulated other comprehensive loss, will be recognized
in interest expense ratably over the remaining life of the Term B Loan.
The following table summarizes the terms and fair value of our outstanding derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2019:
Derivative Assets
Notional
Amount

Maturity Date

Classification

May 2022 and May
2025

Other assets, net

Derivative Liabilities

Fair Value

Fair Value

Classification

Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps

$

450,000

$

—

Other liabilities

$

17,436

The following table summarizes the effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2020:
Amount of Loss
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive
Income

Interest rate swaps

$

(19,741)

Location of Loss Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Interest expense, net

Total Amount of Expense Line Items
Presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in Which the
Effects are Recorded

$

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss into
Income

(83,398) $

(9,232)

The amount of ineffectiveness associated with these contracts was immaterial for the periods presented.
The following table summarizes the effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2019:

Amount of Loss
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Loss

Interest rate swaps
Foreign currency contracts

$
$

(12,983)
(28)

Location of Loss Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Interest expense, net
Cost of goods sold

Total Amount of Expense Line Items
Presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in Which the
Effects are Recorded

$
$

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss into
Income

(98,113) $
(8,082,448) $

(2,423)
517

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recognized a loss of $0.7 million and a gain of $1.0 million, associated with our economic
(non-designated) foreign currency contracts.
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We recorded the change in fair value of derivative instruments and the remeasurement adjustment of the foreign currency denominated asset or
liability in other operating (income) expense, net for our foreign exchange contracts.
Note 14—Income Taxes
The components of income (loss) before income taxes consist of the following:
2020

Year ended December 31,

Income (loss) before income taxes:
U.S.
Foreign

$

Income (loss) before income taxes

$

80,632
29,276
109,908

2019

$
$

(32,953)
4,234
(28,719)

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following:
2020

Year ended December 31,

Current tax provision (benefit):
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current tax provision
Deferred tax provision (benefit):
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred tax provision (benefit)

$

$

Total income tax provision (benefit)

(4,430)
6,527
4,172
6,269
16,512
(1,132)
185
15,565
21,834

2019

$

$

2,501
197
8,569
11,267
(6,150)
(1,575)
(9,677)
(17,402)
(6,135)

A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to our effective income tax rate is shown below:
2020

Year ended December 31,

Federal statutory rate
Increases (decreases) in the rate resulting from:
Net capital loss on Divestiture
Tax reform
Unrecognized tax benefits
State income taxes, net of federal income tax impact
Research and development credit
Foreign income taxes
Valuation allowance
Restricted stock vestings
Other
Effective income tax rate
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2019

21.0 %

21.0 %

(24.8)%
(11.4)%
5.0 %
3.2 %
(2.9)%
0.7 %
27.1 %
1.0 %
1.0 %
19.9 %

—%
—%
(5.0)%
6.6 %
9.8 %
(3.7)%
(1.4)%
(6.7)%
0.8 %
21.4 %

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented
below:
2020

December 31,

Deferred tax assets:
Employee benefit plans
Accrued liabilities not currently deductible
Finance charges
Lease liabilities
Allowance for losses on accounts receivable
Net operating loss carryforwards
Capital loss carryover
Outside basis difference
Interest limitation
Derivatives
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Less: valuation allowances
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Merchandise inventories
Goodwill
Property and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Computer software
Insurance
Intangible assets
Withholding tax liabilities
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Net deferred tax liability

2019

28,546 $
23,872
1,928
43,342
3,629
4,924
27,624
—
1,502
7,920
5,733
149,020
(31,709)
117,311

26,401
24,441
2,678
42,077
4,157
8,394
—
12,408
12,905
5,057
10,611
149,129
(14,282)
134,847

42,509
1,603
34,005
39,514
7,447
1,108
27,349
7,451
344
161,330
(44,019) $

42,872
296
32,689
39,043
9,032
1,082
35,451
6,965
697
168,127
(33,280)

The valuation allowances relate to deferred tax assets for U.S. federal and state capital loss carryforwards and net operating loss carryforwards in
various state jurisdictions. The U.S. capital loss carryforward, which has a full valuation allowance, has an expiration date of five years. The capital loss
and net operating loss carryforwards in various state jurisdictions have various expiration dates ranging from five years to an unlimited carryforward
period. Based on management’s judgment using available evidence about historical and expected future taxable earnings, management believes it is more
likely than not that we will realize the benefit of the existing deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowances, at December 31, 2020.
Cash payments for income taxes, including interest, for 2020 and 2019 were $15.4 million and $18.1 million. Cash tax refunds received for 2020
and 2019 were $32.8 million and $24.3 million.
A summary of the changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits from the beginning to the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2020

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1,
Increases for positions taken during current period
Increases for positions taken during prior periods
Lapse of statute of limitations
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31,

$

11,520 $
1,488
9,073
(1,311)
20,770

2019

9,568
394
1,629
(71)
11,520

Included in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2020 and 2019, were $2.7 million and $3.1 million of tax positions for
which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the
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timing of such deductibility. These tax positions are temporary differences which do not impact the annual effective tax rate under deferred tax accounting.
Any change in the deductibility period of these tax positions would impact the timing of cash payments to taxing jurisdictions. Unrecognized tax benefits
of $18.0 million and $8.4 million at December 31, 2020 and 2019 would impact our effective tax rate if recognized.
We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Accrued interest at December 31, 2020
and 2019 was $2.6 million and $1.3 million. The amounts recognized in interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were
$1.3 million and $0.7 million. There were no penalties accrued at December 31, 2020 and 2019 or recognized in 2020 and 2019.
On August 26, 2020, we received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (NOPA) from the Internal Revenue Services (IRS) regarding our 2015 and
2016 Consolidated Income Tax Returns. Within the NOPA, the IRS has asserted that our taxable income for 2015 and 2016 should be higher based on their
assessment of the appropriate amount of taxable income that we should report in the United States in connection with our sourcing of products by our
foreign subsidiaries for sale in the United States by our domestic subsidiaries. Our amount of taxable income in the United States is based on our transfer
pricing methodology, which has been consistently applied through the current date. We strongly disagree with the IRS position and will pursue all available
administrative and judicial remedies including those available under the U.S. - Ireland Income Tax Treaty to alleviate double taxation. We regularly assess
the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from examinations such as this to determine the adequacy of our tax reserves. We believe that we have
adequately reserved for this matter and that the final adjudication of this matter will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. However, the ultimate outcome of disputes of this nature is uncertain, and if the IRS were to prevail on its assertions,
the additional tax, interest, and any potential penalties could have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state and foreign jurisdictions. Our U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2015,
2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 are subject to examination. Our income tax returns for U.S. state and local jurisdictions are generally open for the years 2017
through 2019; however, certain returns may be subject to examination for differing periods. The former owners are contractually obligated to indemnify us
for all income tax liabilities incurred by Byram entities prior to its acquisition on August 1, 2017, and for all income tax liabilities incurred by the Halyard
foreign entities located in Thailand, Mexico, and Honduras prior to its acquisition on April 30, 2018.
Note 15—Net Income (Loss) per Common Share
The following table summarizes the calculation of net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Year ended December 31,

2020

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic
Dilutive shares
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted

2019

63,368
144
63,512

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Basic and diluted per share

$
$

Loss from discontinued operations
Basic and diluted per share

$
$

Net income (loss)
Basic and diluted per share

$
$

58

88,074
1.39

60,574
—
60,574
$
$

(22,584)
(0.37)

(58,203) $
(0.92) $

(39,787)
(0.66)

29,871
0.47

$
$

(62,371)
(1.03)

Note 16—Shareholders’ Equity
In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for
the repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2020, no shares were issued and
$50.0 million of common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.
On October 6, 2020, we completed a follow-on equity offering wherein we sold an aggregate of 8,475,000 shares of our common stock at an
offering price of $20.50, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $165 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering,
including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the underwriting agreement, we granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an
additional 1,271,250 shares of our common stock, which the underwriters exercised in full. Inclusive of this exercised option, net proceeds to us were
approximately $190 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. We
used the proceeds from the follow-on equity offering to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020,
to repay $51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility.
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Note 17—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following tables show the changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
Retirement Plans

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2019
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Income tax
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
Income tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2020

$

(14,691) $
(6,632)
1,945
(4,687)
1,297
(366)
931
(3,756)
(18,447) $

Retirement Plans

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2018
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications
Income tax
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income
Income tax
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2019

$

(8,146) $
(10,040)
2,610
(7,430)
1,196
(311)
885
(6,545)
(14,691) $

Currency
Translation
Adjustments

(25,301) $
9,703
—
9,703
15,580
—
15,580
25,283
(18) $
Currency
Translation
Adjustments

(32,551) $
7,250
—
7,250
—
—
—
7,250
(25,301) $

Derivatives

(12,715) $
(19,741)
5,789
(13,952)
9,232
(2,609)
6,623
(7,329)
(20,044) $

Derivatives

(4,915) $
(13,011)
3,915
(9,096)
1,906
(610)
1,296
(7,800)
(12,715) $

Total

(52,707)
(16,670)
7,734
(8,936)
26,109
(2,975)
23,134
14,198
(38,509)

Total

(45,612)
(15,801)
6,525
(9,276)
3,102
(921)
2,181
(7,095)
(52,707)

We include amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss related to defined benefit pension plans as a component of net
periodic pension cost recorded in Other expense, net. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we reclassified $1.3 million, which included
$0.4 million as a result of the Divestiture, and $1.2 million of actuarial net losses. Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss for the
year ended December 31, 2020 include currency translation adjustments released as a result of the Divestiture.
Note 18—Commitments and Contingencies
We have a contractual commitment to outsource information technology operations, including the management and operation of our information
technology systems and distributed services processing, as well as application support, development and enhancement services. This agreement expires in
July 2025, with two optional, consecutive one-year extensions. The commitment is cancellable with 90 days' notice and payment of a termination fee based
upon the remaining period left under the agreement.
We pay scheduled fees under the agreement, which can vary based on changes in the level of support required. Assuming no early termination of
the contract, our estimated remaining annual obligations under this agreement are $30.5 million in 2021, $33.6 million in 2022, $32.6 million in 2023,
$32.1 million in 2024, and $15.9 million in 2025.
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In 2018, we transitioned the management of our U.S. private fleet transportation and drivers to a third party company, which provides a robust
technology platform that includes customer tracking and additional delivery capabilities. Under this contractual commitment, we pay scheduled fees which
can vary based on changes in the level of support required. Assuming no early termination of this contract, our estimated remaining annual obligations
under this agreement are $2.3 million in 2021, $2.3 million in 2022, $2.3 million in 2023, and $2.1 million in 2024. In addition to these fixed annual
obligations disclosed herein, we are also contractually obligated to reimburse the third party company for variable costs including, but not limited to,
vehicle costs, driver wages and fringe benefits, fuel, and insurance premiums.
Note 19—Legal Proceedings
We are subject to various legal actions that are ordinary and incidental to our business, including contract disputes, employment, workers’
compensation, product liability, regulatory and other matters. We have insurance coverage for employment, product liability, workers’ compensation and
other personal injury litigation matters, subject to policy limits, applicable deductibles and insurer solvency. We establish reserves from time to time based
upon periodic assessment of the potential outcomes of pending matters.
Based on current knowledge and the advice of counsel, we believe that the accrual as of December 31, 2020 for currently pending matters
considered probable of loss, which is not material, is sufficient. In addition, we believe that other currently pending matters are not reasonably likely to
result in a material loss, as payment of the amounts claimed is remote, the claims are insignificant, individually and in the aggregate, or the claims are
expected to be adequately covered by insurance.
Note 20—Segment Information
We periodically evaluate our application of accounting guidance for reportable segments and disclose information about reportable segments
based on the way management organizes the enterprise for making operating decisions and assessing performance. We report our business under two
segments: Global Solutions and Global Products. The Global Solutions segment includes our United States distribution, outsourced logistics and valueadded services business. Global Products manufactures and sources medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations.
We evaluate the performance of our segments based on their operating income excluding acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges and
other substantive items that, either as a result of their nature or size, would not be expected to occur as part of our normal business operations on a regular
basis.
Segment assets exclude inter-segment account balances as we believe their inclusion would be misleading and not meaningful. We believe all
inter-segment sales are at prices that approximate market.
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The following tables present financial information by segment:
Year ended December 31,

2020

Net revenue:
Segment net revenue
Global Solutions
Global Products
Total segment net revenue
Inter-segment net revenue
Global Products
Total inter-segment net revenue
Consolidated net revenue

$

$

Operating income:
Global Solutions
Global Products
Inter-segment eliminations
Intangible amortization
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges
Other (1)
Consolidated operating income

$

$

Depreciation and amortization:
Global Solutions
Global Products
Discontinued operations
Consolidated depreciation and amortization

7,212,011
1,810,331
9,022,342

$

8,243,867
1,433,977
9,677,844

(542,165)
(542,165)
8,480,177 $

(466,905)
(466,905)
9,210,939

30,946 $
259,929
(7,515)
(41,490)
(37,752)
—
204,118 $

83,592
65,054
45
(44,009)
(30,050)
(1,481)
73,151

$

$

Capital expenditures:
Global Solutions
Global Products
Discontinued operations
Consolidated capital expenditures

2019

$

$

41,286
52,050
—
93,336

$

20,386
35,780
3,027
59,193

$

$

42,444
54,302
19,932
116,678

10,987
22,289
18,952
52,228

$

(1)

2019 included interest cost and net actuarial losses related to the U.S. Retirement Plan as well as software as a service (SaaS) implementation costs associated with the
upgrading of our global IT platforms in connection with the redesign of our global information system strategy.

December 31,

2020

Total assets:
Global Solutions
Global Products
Segment assets
Discontinued operations
Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated total assets

$

$
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2,117,372
1,135,209
3,252,581
—
83,058
3,335,639

2019

$

$

2,205,134
930,937
3,136,071
439,983
67,030
3,643,084

The following tables present information by geographic area. Net revenues were attributed to geographic areas based on the locations from which
we ship products or provide services.
Year ended December 31,

2020

Net revenue:
United States
International
Consolidated net revenue

$
$

December 31,

8,130,411
349,766
8,480,177

2019

$
$

2020

Long-lived assets:
United States
International
Consolidated long-lived assets

$
$
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627,624
114,122
741,746

8,871,599
339,340
9,210,939

2019

$
$

632,643
153,604
786,247

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Owens & Minor, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then
ended and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years
then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 24, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Evaluation of goodwill impairment assessment
As discussed in notes 1 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company evaluates its goodwill for impairment annually, as of October 1, and
whenever events occur or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Through an assessment of
qualitative factors, the Company determined it was more likely than not that the fair value of the Global Products reporting unit exceeded its carrying
amount. The Global Products segment manufactures and sources medical surgical products. The carrying amount of goodwill as of December 31, 2020 was
$394 million. Of this amount, the carrying amount of goodwill for the Global Products reporting unit was $110 million.
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We identified the evaluation of the goodwill impairment assessment of the Global Products reporting unit as a critical audit matter. A higher degree of
auditor judgment was required to evaluate the outlook of general economic conditions and market demand for the Company’s medical surgical products,
which are inherently uncertain. These qualitative factors could have a significant effect on the Company’s determination of whether a further quantitative
test is performed.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness
of certain internal controls related to the goodwill impairment process. This included a control related to the Company’s assessment of the outlook of
general economic conditions and market demand for the Company’s medical surgical products. We evaluated the Company’s assessment of these
qualitative factors by (1) comparing financial results to prior valuations and forecasts and performing a sensitivity analysis on expected changes to certain
inputs from the most recent fair value calculation and whether those changes would increase/decrease the fair value, and (2) analyzing macroeconomic
information contained in third party analyst reports on the Company and certain other market data sources. We involved valuation professionals with
specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in analyzing general economic conditions and market demand for the Company’s medical surgical products.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1987.
Richmond, Virginia
February 24, 2021
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(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated June 8, 2012)

10.29

First Amendment dated as of September 17, 2014 by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc. and Owens & Minor Medical, Inc. (
as Borrowers), Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (as Guarantors) and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ( as
Administrative Agent), to the Credit Agreement dated as of June 5, 2012 by and among the Borrowers, the Guarantors, a syndicate of
financial institutions party thereto, the Administrative Agent, and the other agents party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated September 18, 2014)

10.30

Share Purchase Agreement dated August 31, 2012 between Celesio AG, Admenta Deutschland GmbH, Admenta Denmark ApS,
Admenta France S.A. and OCP Portugal Produtos Farmaceuticos, S.A. (as Sellers) and O&M-Movianto Nederland B.V., O&M-Movianto
UK Holdings Ltd, O&M-Movianto France Holdings SAS (as Purchasers) and Owens & Minor, Inc. (as Purchasers’ Guarantor)
(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit10.1, dated September 4, 2012)

10.31

Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2017, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC, Barista
Acquisition II, LLC , Mediq B.V. , Mediq International B.V. and Mediq USA Holdings (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended March 31, 2017)

10.32

Owens & Minor, Inc. 2017 Teammate Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 22, 2017 (File No. 001-09810))*

10.33

Credit Agreement, dated as of July 27, 2017, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista
Acquisition I, LLC, and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, (the “Borrowers”), Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries
(together, the “Guarantors), Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “Administrative
Agent”), a syndicate of financial institutions party thereto, and the other agents party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to our
Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated July 28, 2017)

10.34

Restated Guaranty Agreement, dated as of the February 12, 2019, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., the other Guarantors party thereto
and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the Pro Rata Facilities and the Term B Facility (incorporated herein by reference
to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 19, 2019)

10.35

Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of August 16, 2018, by and between Richard A. Meier and Owens &
Minor Medical, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Exhibit 10.1, dated August 23, 2018)*

10.36

Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of August 3, 2018, by and between Rony Kordahi and Owens & Minor
Medical, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.10, for the quarter ended June 30,
2018)*

10.37

Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of January 10th, 2020, by and between Robert K. Snead, and Owens &
Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.36, for the year ended December 31,
2019)*

10.38

Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor
Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Bank of America, N.A.,
U.S. Bank National Association, and the other secured parties thereto. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8K, Exhibit 10.2, dated May 4, 2018)
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10.39

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2018, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor
Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC, and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, as Borrowers, Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its
domestic subsidiaries, as Guarantors, the banks party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the banks party
thereto (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Exhibit 10.1, dated April 18, 2018)

10.40

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution,
Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other
domestic subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the
credit facilities, Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party
thereto. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated May 4, 2018)

10.41

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2018, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other domestic
subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the credit
facilities, Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto.
(incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.9, dated May 10, 2018)

10.42

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor
Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and
each other domestic subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for
certain of the credit facilities and as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto.
(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 19, 2019)

10.43

Amendment to the Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.1, dated May 10, 2019*

10.44

Owens & Minor, Inc. Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as Amended and Restated Effective May 10, 2019 ((Incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated May 10, 2019*

10.45

Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of June 26, 2019, by and between Stuart Morris-Hipkins and Owens &
Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended June 30, 2019)*

10.46

Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2020, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution,
Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other
domestic subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the
credit facilities and as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto. (Incorporated
herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 18, 2020)

10.47

Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as the initial servicer,
O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent,
and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1,
dated February 19, 2020)

10.48

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., as the originator,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as servicer, and O&M Funding LLC, as buyer. (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated February 19, 2020)

10.49

Performance Guaranty of Owens & Minor, Inc., dated as of February 19, 2020 in favor of PNC Bank, National Association. (Incorporated
herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.3, dated February 19, 2020)

10.50

Amendment No. 2 to the Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 19, 2020. (File No. 001-09810))*

10.51

First Amendment to the Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as
the initial servicer, O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020)
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10.52

Second Amendment to the Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as
the initial servicer, O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.2, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020)

10.53

Owens & Minor, Inc. 2021 Teammate Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement filed March 19, 2020 (File No. 001-09810))*

11.1

Calculation of Net Income (Loss) per Common Share. Information related to this item is in Part II, Item 8, Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements, Note 15-Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

21.1

Subsidiaries of Registrant

22.1

List of Guarantor Subsidiaries

22.2

List of Subsidiaries Pledged as Collateral

23.1

Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

** Certain exhibits and schedules to the Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We hereby
undertake to furnish copies of such omitted materials supplementally upon request by the SEC.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 24th day of February, 2021.
OWENS & MINOR, INC.

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 24th day of February, 2021:

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

/s/ Mark F. McGettrick
Mark F. McGettrick
Director

/s/ Andrew G. Long
Andrew G. Long
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Eddie N. Moore, Jr.
Eddie N. Moore, Jr.
Director

/s/ Mark A. Beck
Mark A. Beck
Chairman of the Board of Directors

/s/ Michael C. Riordan
Michael C. Riordan
Director

/s/ Gwendolyn M. Bingham
Gwendolyn M. Bingham
Director

/s/ Robert C. Sledd
Robert C. Sledd
Director

/s/ Robert J. Henkel
Robert J. Henkel
Director
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Corporate Officers

Edward A. Pesicka (53)
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director
President and Chief Executive Officer since joining Owens & Minor in March 2019. Mr. Pesicka was also appointed to the board of directors at the time he
joined the company. Previously Mr. Pesicka served as an independent consultant and advisor in the healthcare, life sciences and distribution industries since
January 1, 2016. From January 2000 through April 2015, Mr. Pesicka served in various roles of increasing responsibility at Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.,
including, most recently, Chief Commercial Officer and Senior Vice President from January 2014 to April 2015. Prior to that, he was President, Customer
Channels at Thermo Fisher from July 2008 to January 2014 and President, Research Market from November 2006 to July 2008. Earlier in his career,
Mr. Pesicka held various Vice President-level roles in Thermo Fischer Scientific’s finance department, serving as Chief Financial Officer of numerous
divisions. Prior to Thermo Fisher Scientific, Mr. Pesicka spent eight years with TRW, Inc. in its finance department and three years with
PricewaterhouseCoopers as an auditor.
Andrew G. Long (55)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of Owens & Minor since joining the company on November 11, 2019. Prior to that, Mr. Long served as
the Chief Executive Officer of Insys Therapeutics, Inc. (“Insys”) from April 2019 to November 8, 2019. Prior to that, Mr. Long served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Insys from August 2017. Prior to joining Insys, Mr. Long served as senior vice president of Global Finance at Patheon, a
pharmaceutical company, from 2015 to 2017. Prior to working at Patheon, Mr. Long served as Vice President of Finance for multiple divisions at Thermo
Fisher Scientific from 2006 until 2015. Mr. Long has served as a Member of the Board of Directors of Insys, which filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy
protection in June 2019, from April 2019 until his resignation on November 8, 2019.
Christopher Lowery (57)
President, Global Products
President, Global Products business unit of Owens & Minor since January 2018. Prior to that, from November 2014 to December 2017, Mr. Lowery served
as Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at Halyard Health, Inc. From April 2010 to October 2014, Mr. Lowery served as Vice President of
Sales and Marketing at Kimberly-Clark Health Care. Prior to joining Kimberly-Clark Health Care, he held several senior marketing and sales roles at
Covidien, a global health care products company.
Jeffery T. Jochims (53)
Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer & President, Medical Distribution
Executive Vice President & Chief Operating Officer since November 1, 2019. Mr. Jochims joined Owens & Minor in April 2019 and served as Executive
Vice President, Strategy & Solutions prior to becoming COO. Mr. Jochims recently assumed the additional duties of President, Medical Distribution. In his
capacities as COO and President, Medical Distribution, Mr. Jochims is responsible for the performance and operations of our Medical Distribution business
unit as well as the Company’s, specialty services, IT, marketing, strategy and continuous improvement functions. Prior to joining Owens & Minor, Mr.
Jochims served from 2015 to 2019 as an executive consultant and board member to companies in the healthcare, pharmaceutical and life sciences
industries. Additionally during that period, Mr. Jochims was a co-founder and principal of 4C Measures, a start-up technology business. Prior to that, from
2000 until 2014, Mr. Jochims served in positions of increasing authority at Thermo Fisher Scientific, including January 2012 - December 2014 as President
of the Global Research & Safety Market division publicly known as Fisher Scientific. Prior to that, he was President of the Safety Market Division from
January 2010 to January 2012, Vice President of Global Channel Development & Strategy from May 2007 to December 2009 and Vice President - Division
General Counsel & Deputy General Counsel from May 2000-2007.
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Shana C. Neal (55)
Executive Vice President & Chief Human Resources Officer
Executive Vice President & Chief Human Resources Officer since February 2020. Prior to that, Ms. Neal served as Senior Vice President & Chief Human
Resources Officer, after joining Owens & Minor in March 2018. A global Human Resources professional, Ms. Neal worked for Becton Dickinson (BD),
from 2005 to 2018, where she most recently served as Senior Vice President, Human Resources, Life Sciences. Additionally, Ms. Neal led the organization
and talent integration for BD’s acquisitions of Bard and CareFusion.
Nicholas J. Pace (50)
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary since May 2018. Mr. Pace joined Owens & Minor in 2016, serving as its Senior Vice
President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary. Prior to joining the company, Mr. Pace served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel &
Secretary of Landmark Health, LLC, from July-December 2015. From January 2014 to July 2015, he served in simultaneous roles of Senior Vice President,
Strategy & General Counsel of Landmark Health, LLC and Executive Vice President, Corporate Development & General Counsel of Avalon Health
Services, LLC, two Francisco Partners portfolio companies. From March to October 2013, Mr. Pace served as Executive Vice President, Operations &
Compliance for Health Diagnostic Laboratory, Inc., which filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in June 2015. Prior to that role, he served as
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary of Amerigroup Corporation, where he worked from 2006-2013 until its sale to Anthem, Inc.

Mark P. Zacur (58)
Executive Vice President, Chief Commercial Officer
Executive Vice President & Chief Commercial Officer since November 1, 2019. Mr. Zacur joined Owens & Minor in June 2019 and served as Senior Vice
President & Chief Procurement Officer until November 2019. Prior to joining the company, Mr. Zacur served as Vice President & General Manager of
Fisher Healthcare, a national diagnostics laboratory distributor and operating division of Thermo Fisher Scientific, from November 2014 to May 2019.
Previously, he held a variety of marketing, product management, procurement and operations leadership roles at Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bayer
Corporation and Reichhold Chemicals. Mark currently serves on the Board of Directors at St. Clair Hospital, a 330-bed independent, non-profit hospital
located in Mt. Lebanon, PA.

Jonathan A. Leon (54)
Senior Vice President, Corporate Treasurer
Senior Vice President, Corporate Treasurer of Owens & Minor since May 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Leon served as Vice President, Treasurer, after joining
Owens & Minor in January 2017. Before joining Owens & Minor, Mr. Leon worked for the Brinks Company for nineteen years, beginning in 1998, where
he served as Treasurer.
Michael W. Lowry (59)
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer since June 2018. Prior to that, from May 2016 to June 2018, Mr. Lowry was
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller and Vice President, Corporate Controller beginning in 2013. Prior to that, from 2009 to 2013 Mr. Lowry was
the Vice President, Treasurer. Mr. Lowry joined Owens & Minor in 1988.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES REGISTERED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following is a brief description of the common stock, $2.00 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the
“Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”), which is the only security of the Company registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the “Exchange Act”).
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK
Our authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $2.00 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of cumulative
preferred stock, par value $100.00 per share. As of February 16, 2021, 73,498,525 shares of our common stock were issued and outstanding and no shares
of our preferred stock were issued and outstanding.
The following summary description sets forth some of the general terms and provisions of our common stock. Because this is a summary description,
it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a more detailed description of our common stock, you should refer to the
provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as amended, each of which is an exhibit to the Form
10-K to which this description is an exhibit.
Common Stock
Dividends
Subject to the rights of any series of preferred stock that we may issue, the holders of common stock may receive dividends when, as and if declared
by our board of directors, out of our assets legally available therefor.
Voting Rights
Holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which shareholders are entitled to vote
generally, including the election or removal of directors. In uncontested elections, directors are elected by a majority of the votes cast in the election for
such director nominee. The holders of our common stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. The affirmative vote of more
than two-thirds of the outstanding shares of common stock is required for certain amendments to our amended and restated articles of incorporation and the
approval of mergers, statutory share exchanges, certain sales or other dispositions of assets outside the usual and regular course of business, conversions,
domestications and dissolutions. All other matters to be voted on by shareholders must be approved by a majority of the votes cast on the matter.
Liquidation Rights
Upon our dissolution, liquidation or winding up and after payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the holders of shares
of our preferred stock having liquidation preferences, if any, the holders of shares of our common stock will be entitled to receive pro rata our remaining
assets available for distribution.
Other Rights
Holders of shares of our common stock do not have preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. Shares of our common stock will not
be subject to further calls or assessment by us. There will be no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to shares of our common stock. The
rights, powers, preferences and privileges of holders of shares of our common stock will be subject to those of the holders of any shares of our preferred
stock that we may authorize and issue in the future.
Transfer Agent

The transfer agent and registrar for shares of our common stock is Computershare Shareowner Services.
Listing
Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “OMI.”
Preferred Stock
Our amended and restated articles of incorporation authorize our board of directors to establish one or more series of shares of preferred stock
(including shares of convertible preferred stock). Unless required by law or by the NYSE, the authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for
issuance without further action by our shareholders. Our board of directors is able to determine, with respect to any series of shares of preferred stock, the
powers (including voting powers), preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions
thereof, including:
•

the rate of dividend, the time of payment and the dates from which any dividends shall be cumulative and the extent of participation rights, if
any;

•

any right to vote with holders of shares of any other series or class and any right to vote as a class either generally or as a condition to
specified corporate action, subject to certain limitations;

•

the price at which and the terms and conditions upon which shares may be redeemed;

•

the amount payable upon shares in the event of involuntary or voluntary liquidation;

•

sinking fund provisions of the redemption or purchase of shares, if any; and

•

the terms and conditions upon which shares may be converted, if the shares of any series are issued with the privilege of conversion.

Anti-Takeover Provisions
Certain provisions in our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as well as certain provisions of
Virginia law, may make more difficult or discourage a takeover of our business or removal of our incumbent directors or officers.
Certain Provisions of Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws
Election and Removal of Directors; Vacancies. Each of our directors is elected by the vote of a majority of the votes cast at any meeting of
shareholders for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, provided that if the number of director nominees at such meeting exceeds the
number of directors to be elected, the directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. Under our amended and restated bylaws, a majority of the votes
cast means that the number of shares voted “for” a director must exceed the number of shares voted “against” that director.
Our directors are elected for one-year terms and can be removed, with or without cause, if the number of votes cast for removal at a shareholder
meeting called for that purpose at which a quorum is present constitutes a majority of the votes entitled to be cast at an election of directors. Our amended
and restated bylaws currently provide that the total number of directors is 8. The number of directors may be increased or decreased by amendment of our
amended and restated bylaws.
Vacancies in the board may be filled by shareholders or by the board. Subject to the rights of any preferred stock, any vacancy on our board of
directors resulting from any death, resignation, retirement, disqualification,

removal from office or newly created directorship resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors or otherwise may be filled by majority
vote of the remaining directors then in office, even if less than a quorum, or shareholders.
Special Meetings of Shareholders. Special meetings of shareholders may be called at any time and from time to time only by the chairman of our
board of directors, our chief executive officer or by a majority of the board of directors.
Advance Notice Requirements for Shareholder Director Nominations and Shareholder Business. Our amended and restated bylaws require that
advance notice of shareholder director nominations and shareholder business for annual meetings be made in writing and given to our corporate secretary,
together with certain specified information, not later than 120 days before the anniversary of the immediately preceding annual meeting of shareholders,
subject to other timing requirements as specified in our amended and restated bylaws.
Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation currently authorize more capital stock than we have
issued. The listing requirements of the NYSE, which will apply so long as our common stock remains listed on the NYSE, require shareholder approval of
certain issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of then-outstanding voting power or then-outstanding number of shares of common stock. These additional
shares may be used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings, to raise additional capital or to facilitate acquisitions.
One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved common stock or preferred stock may be to enable our board of directors to issue
shares to persons friendly to current management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our company by
means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of our management and possibly deprive the shareholders of
opportunities to sell their shares of common stock at prices higher than prevailing market prices.
Certain Provisions of Virginia Law
Control Share Acquisitions Statute. Virginia law contains provisions relating to “control share acquisitions,” which are transactions causing the
voting power of any person acquiring beneficial ownership of shares of a Virginia public corporation to meet or exceed certain threshold percentages (20%,
33 1/3% or 50%) of the total votes entitled to be cast for the election of directors. Under Virginia law, shares acquired in a control share acquisition have no
voting rights unless granted by a majority vote of all outstanding shares entitled to vote in the election of directors other than those held by the acquiring
person or held by any officer or employee director of the corporation, unless at the time of any control share acquisition, the articles of incorporation or
bylaws of the corporation provide that this statute does not apply to acquisitions of its shares. An acquiring person that owns 5% or more of the
corporation’s voting stock may require that a special meeting of the shareholders be held, within 50 days of the acquiring person’s request, to consider the
grant of voting rights to the shares acquired or to be acquired in the control share acquisition. If voting rights are not granted and the corporation’s articles
of incorporation or bylaws permit, the acquiring person’s shares may be redeemed by the corporation, at the corporation’s option, at a price per share equal
to the acquiring person’s cost. Unless otherwise provided in the corporation’s articles of incorporation or bylaws, the Virginia law grants appraisal rights to
any shareholder who objects to a control share acquisition that is approved by a vote of disinterested shareholders and that gives the acquiring person
control of a majority of the corporation’s voting shares. As permitted by Virginia law, we have opted out of the Virginia anti-takeover law regulating
control share acquisitions.
Affiliated Transactions Statute. Virginia law also contains provisions governing “affiliated transactions.” An affiliated transaction is generally defined
as a merger, a share exchange, a material disposition of corporate assets not in the ordinary course of business, any dissolution of the corporation proposed
by or on behalf of a holder of more than 10% of any class of the corporation’s outstanding voting shares (a “10% holder”) or any reclassification, including
reverse stock splits, recapitalization or merger of the corporation with its subsidiaries, that increases the percentage of voting shares owned beneficially by
a 10% holder by more than 5%. In general, these provisions prohibit a Virginia corporation from engaging in affiliated transactions with any 10% holder
for a period of three

years following the date that such person became a 10% holder unless (1) the board of directors of the corporation and the holders of two-thirds of the
voting shares, other than the shares beneficially owned by the 10% holder, approve the affiliated transaction or (2) before the date the person became a 10%
holder, the board of directors approved the transaction that resulted in the shareholder becoming a 10% holder. Virginia law permits corporations to opt out
of the affiliated transactions provisions. We have not opted out of the Virginia anti-takeover law regulating affiliated transactions.
Shareholder Action by Unanimous Consent. Virginia law provides that, unless provided otherwise in a Virginia corporation’s articles of
incorporation, any action that could be taken by shareholders at a meeting may be taken, instead, without a meeting and without notice if a consent in
writing is signed by all the shareholders entitled to vote on the action. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation do not include a provision that
permits shareholders to take action without a meeting other than by unanimous written consent.
Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors
Virginia law permits, and our amended and restated articles of incorporation provide for, the indemnification of our directors and officers with respect to
certain liabilities and expenses imposed upon them in connection with any civil, criminal or other proceeding by reason of having been a director or officer
of our company. This indemnification does not apply in the case of willful misconduct or a knowing violation of the criminal law. Insofar as
indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, indemnification for liabilities under the Securities Act is against public policy
and is unenforceable.

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Registrant
Subsidiary
500 Expressway Drive South LLC
Access Diabetic Supply, L.L.C.
Access Respiratory Supply Inc
AVID Medical, Inc.
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc.
Byram Holdings I, Inc.
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C.
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C.
Fusion 5 Inc.
Halyard North Carolina, LLC
Key Diabetes Supply Co.
MAI Acquisition Corp.
Medegen Newco, LLC
Medical Action Industries Inc.
Medical Supply Group, Inc.
O&M Byram Holdings, GP
O&M Funding LLC
O&M Halyard, Inc.
O&M Worldwide, LLC
OMSolutions International, Inc.
Owens & Minor Canada, Inc.
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC
Owens & Minor Healthcare Supply, Inc.
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc.
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc.
Owens & Minor, Inc.
Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Deferred
Compensation Trust
Arabian Medical Products Manufacturing Company
(19%)
ArcRoyal Holdings Unlimited Company
ArcRoyal Unlimited Company
Halyard Malaysia SND BHD
La Ada de Acuna, S. de R.L. de C.V.
MIRA Medsource (Malaysia) SDN. BHD.
Mira MEDsource (Shanghai) Co., LTD
Mira MEDsource Holding Company Limited
Nalvest Limited
O and M Halyard South Africa Pty Ltd
O&M Brasil Consultoria Ltda

State of
Incorporation/Organization Country
Delaware
USA
Florida
USA
Florida
USA
Delaware
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
New Jersey
USA
New Jersey
USA
Utah
USA
Utah
USA
Delaware
USA
North Carolina
USA
Michigan
USA
Delaware
USA
Delaware
USA
Delaware
USA
Virginia
USA
Delaware
USA
Delaware
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia
USA
Virginia

USA

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Saudi Arabia
Ireland
Ireland
Malaysia
Mexico
Malaysia
Shanghai
Hong Kong
Jersey
South Africa
Brazil

Assumed Name
AOM Healthcare Solutions

AOM Healthcare Solutions

OM Healthcare Logistics

O&M Halyard Australia PTY LTD
O&M Halyard Belgium
O&M Halyard Canada Inc.
O&M Halyard France
O&M Halyard Germany GmbH
O&M Halyard Health India Private Limited
O&M Halyard Honduras S.A. de C.V.
O&M Halyard International Unlimited Company
O&M Halyard Ireland Limited
O&M Halyard Japan GK
O&M Halyard Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V.
O&M Halyard Netherlands B.V.
O&M Halyard Singapore PTE Ltd
O&M Halyard UK Limited
O&M Healthcare Italia S.R.L.
O&M International Healthcare C.V.
Owens & Minor Global Services Unlimited Company
Owens & Minor International Unlimited Company
Owens & Minor Ireland Unlimited Company
Owens & Minor Jersey Holdings Limited
Owens & Minor Jersey Unlimited
Safeskin Medical & Scientific (Thailand) Ltd.

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Australia
Belgium
Canada
France
Germany
India
Honduras
Ireland
Ireland
Japan
Mexico
Netherlands
Singapore
United Kingdom
Italy
Netherlands
Ireland
Ireland
Ireland
Jersey
Jersey
Thailand

Exhibit 22.1
Owens & Minor, Inc.
List of Guarantor Subsidiaries
The following table lists the guarantors, issuers, or co-issuers of Owens & Minor, Inc.'s 2024 Notes as of December 31, 2020:
Entity:
Owens & Minor, Inc.
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc.
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
O&M Halyard, Inc.
O&M Byram Holding, GP
Byram Holdings I, Inc.
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc.
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc.
500 Expressway Drive South LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Access Diabetic Supply, L.L.C., a Florida limited liability company
Access Respiratory Supply Inc, a Florida corporation
AVID Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Fusion 5 Inc., a Delaware corporation
Halyard North Carolina, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company
Key Diabetes Supply Co., a Michigan corporation
MAI Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation
Medegen Newco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Medical Action Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Medical Supply Group, Inc., a Virginia corporation
O&M Worldwide, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
OM Solutions International, Inc., a Virginia corporation
Owens & Minor Canada, Inc., a Virginia corporation
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
Owens & Minor Healthcare Supply, Inc., a Virginia corporation

Exhibit 22.2
Owens & Minor, Inc.
List of Subsidiaries Pledged as Collateral
The following table lists the pledged subsidiaries of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024 Notes that constitute collateral (together, "the Collateral
Group") as of December 31, 2020:
Entity
Owens & Minor, Inc.
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc.
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
O&M Halyard, Inc.
O&M Byram Holding, GP
Byram Holdings I, Inc.
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc.
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc.
500 Expressway Drive South LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Access Diabetic Supply, L.L.C., a Florida limited liability company
Access Respiratory Supply Inc., a Florida corporation
AVID Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Fusion 5 Inc., a Delaware corporation
Halyard North Carolina, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company
Key Diabetes Supply Co., a Michigan corporation
MAI Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation
Medegen Newco, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
Medical Action Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Medical Supply Group, Inc., a Virginia corporation
O&M Worldwide, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
OM Solutions International, Inc., a Virginia corporation
Owens & Minor Canada, Inc., a Virginia corporation
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
Owens & Minor Healthcare Supply, Inc., a Virginia corporation
O&M Halyard International
O&M Halyard Canada ULC
Avent de Honduras-S.A. de C.V. OMI
O&M Halyard Mexico S. del R.I. de C.V.
O&M Halyard Brasil Consultoria Ltda
La Ada de Acuna-S. de R.L. de C.V.
O&M Halyard UK Limited
O&M Halyard France
O&M Halyard Germany GMBH
O&M Halyard Netherlands B.V.
O&M Halyard South Africa Pty Ltd
Mira MEDSource Holding Co Limited
Mira Medsource (Malasia) SDN BHD
Mira Medsource (Shanghai) Company
Mira Medsource Hldg Co-ELIM
OM International Netherlands Healthcare CV
Rutherford CV
O&M International Ltd

GNB Associates LLC
O&M Jersey Holdings Limited
AVS Health Espana SL
Healthcare Services Group Ltd
Pharmacare Logistics
Healthcare Product Services Ltd
O&M Ireland Unlimited Company
O&M Jersey Unlimited
Nalvest Ltd
ArcRoyal Holdings Unlimited
ArcRoyal Unlimited Co
O&M Global Services Unlimited Co
O&M Healthcare International
O&M Healthcare Italia SRL
O&M Halyard Belgium
O&M Halyard Australia PYT LTD
O&M Halyard Singapore PTE Ltd
O&M Halyard Japan GK
O&M Halyard India LLP
Safeskin Medical & Scientific (Thailand) Ltd.
Halyard Malaysia SDN. BHD.

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Owens & Minor, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 033-32497, 333-124965, 333-142716, 333-203826, 333-217783, 333224787, 333-231386, 333-238059, and 333-251376) on Form S-8 and registration statement (No. 333-238068) on Form S-3 of Owens & Minor, Inc. of our
reports dated February 24, 2021, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Owens & Minor, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended and the
related notes, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, which reports appear in the December 31, 2020
annual report on Form 10‑K of Owens & Minor, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Richmond, Virginia
February 24, 2021

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Edward A. Pesicka, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 of Owens & Minor, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 2021
/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Andrew G. Long, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, of Owens & Minor, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 24, 2021
/s/ Andrew G. Long
Andrew G. Long
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Edward A. Pesicka, President, Chief Executive Officer & Director of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director
Owens & Minor, Inc.
February 24, 2021

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Andrew G. Long, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Andrew G. Long
Andrew G. Long
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Owens & Minor, Inc.
February 24, 2021

